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SPEAKER’S BIOGRAPHIES

Welcome to the 72nd
LWVK Convention!
As we gather to celebrate
LWVK’s many assets
in 2017, the League of
Women Voters is 97 years
old; women have voted in
Kansas for 105 years; and
our state is home to nine
local Leagues.
Since 1920, the League
of Women Voters has been
a nonpartisan political
organization that
encourages the informed
and active participation of
citizens in government and
influences public policy
through education
and advocacy.
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CONVENTION SPEAKERS
CRACK THE S.A.F.E. ACT + BANK ON PUBLIC EDUCATION

Bob Eye, J.D., serves on the board of
directors for ACLU of Kansas as well as
the Nuclear Information and Resource
Service in Washington, D.C. Drawing on
his experience as a civil rights attorney,
Bob will speak on the history of voting
rights in Kansas.

The LWVUS liaison to LWVK,
Kim Lauth, CFRE, has more than 25
years of experience in nonprofit
management and fundraising. She will
speak on strategic planning and the work
of the League in these times.

Superintendent of Topeka schools
Tiffany Anderson, Ph.D., is an advocate
for children of poverty and color in public
schools. In 2014, she earned national
recognition from Education Week as one
of “16 Leaders to Learn From.”
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ORDER OF BUSINESS
8:30 a.m. REGISTRATION & CONTINENTAL BREAKFAST in Atrium
9:30 a.m. OPENING in Grand Ballroom
CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME
Carole Neal and Marge Ahrens, Co-Presidents
WELCOME
Judy Moler, President, League of Women Voters of Topeka-Shawnee County
Patrick Woods, President of the Board, Topeka Public Schools District 501
INTRODUCTIONS
Convention Chair and President of the LWV Topeka-Shawnee County Judy Moler
LWV of Kansas Board
Cille King, Voters Services and 1st Vice President
Melissa Carlson, Communications and 2nd Vice President
Betty Wyckoff, Secretary
Anita Kaiser, Treasurer
Ellen Miller, Membership
Martha Pint, Membership/Leadership Development
Alan Cowles, Legislative Liaison
Teresa Briggs, Legislative Liaison and Website Coordination
Gwen Elliott, Education Study Chair
Jari Marietta, Development Chair
Nominating Committee
Ann Zimmerman, Chair
Cathy Hoy
Jurina Watts
Betty Wyckoff
Local League Presidents
Johnson County
Lawrence-Douglas County
Emporia-Lyon County
Salina-Saline County
Great Bend-Barton County
Leavenworth-Leavenworth County
Wichita-Metro
Manhattan-Riley County
Topeka-Shawnee County
Members at Large (MALs)
Legislative Observers/Committee
Special Guests: Kim Lauth, LWVUS Liaison to LWVK and Kent Lauth

10:00 a.m. RECOGNITION AWARD
BUSINESS SESSION I: ORGANIZATION OF CONVENTION
APPOINTMENT OF GRACE WILSON, LWVTSC, PARLIAMENTARIAN
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF CONVENTION COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS
CREDENTIALS REPORT AND DECLARATION OF QUORUM: BETTY WYCKOFF
ADOPTION OF CONVENTION RULES
CALL FOR ACTION RESOLUTIONS
REVIEW AND ADOPTION OF ORDER OF BUSINESS

10:15-10:30 a.m. BREAK in Atrium
10:30 a.m. SPEAKER in Grand Ballroom:
Bob Eye, “The Freeze and Thaw Cycle of Voting Rights in Kansas”

11:15-12:00 BUSINESS SESSION II
ROLL CALL OF LOCAL LEAGUES, Betty Wyckoff, Secretary
TREASURER'S REPORT, Anita Kaiser, Treasurer
PRESENTATION OF PROPOSED 2017-18 BUDGETS, Anita Kaiser
ENDOWMENT FUND REPORT, Royceann Mathers, Chair
PRESENTATION OF RECOMMENDED 2017-2018 WATER UPDATE STUDY
PRESENTATION AND ACTION on 2015-2017 UPDATE: THE FINANCING OF PUBLIC
EDUCATION IN KANSAS
NOMINATING COMMITTEE REPORT (AND ANY NOMINATIONS FROM THE FLOOR)

12:00 p.m. LUNCH & SPEAKER in Alcoves 1-4
Kim Lauth, “Growing the League in Engagement and Influence”
1:00 p.m. SPEAKER in Grand Ballroom
Superintendent of Topeka Schools Tiffany Anderson, Ph.D.
“Creating an Environment of Success for Children in Challenges”

2:00 p.m. BUSINESS SESSION III
CREDENTIALS REPORT, Betty Wyckoff (5 minutes)
CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION OF THE 2017-2018 BUDGET (10 minutes)
CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION OF PROPOSED STUDY (15 minutes)

2:30 p.m. BREAK
2:45 p.m. CO-PRESIDENTS REPORT
Carole Neal and Marge Ahrens, “Organize, Educate, Litigate, Advocate”

3:40 p.m. FINAL BUSINESS SESSION IV
CREDENTIALS REPORT
ADOPTION OF ACTION RESOLUTIONS
REPORT OF ELECTIONS COMMITTEE / ELECTION
RECOGNITION OF CONVENTION COMMITTEES
PRESENTATION OF NEW LWVK BOARD/PRESIDENTS
DIRECTIONS TO THE BOARD
ANNOUNCEMENTS

4:30 p.m. ADJOURNMENT
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CO-PRESIDENTS’ MESSAGE

League priorities, or appeared at hearings to
support us. You also made extra financial
contributions to support our interns and all of
our work. Thank you.

Our tenure as Co-Presidents of the League
of Women Voters of Kansas,
like those of other League
leaders, was built on the
knowledge and leadership of
past presidents. It was built on
nearly 100 years of millions of
hours of volunteer time
dedicated to the increase and
protection of democracy for all.
It was built on the practice of
modeling democracy by
welcoming all to membership
Marge Ahrens, Topeka
— now to include the 16 year
old and the non-citizen, by
demanding transparency in
government so that we might
have the widest participation in
democracy for all.

These two years in our joint
presidency are surely among
the most remarkable and
privileged of our lives.
Jumping into leadership for the
League of Women Voters of
Kansas was a deep plunge
into both internal and external
workings of the League. Our
first months drove us to issues
of office organization and
assistance. We set out to try
to address the long lists of
voter registrants who had not
brought in documents to
complete their registrations
(because it creates another
and unnecessary step in the
Let’s start this “presidents’
complicated lives of Kansas
report” by defining “we”. Ours
citizens). We walked right into
has been a working board.
the Secretary of State’s
Numerous projects can be
Carole Neal, Wichita
rulemaking intended to throw
attributed to the “we” meaning
all those embarrassing
board members’ contributions
thousands off the incomplete registration.
backed and utilized by the full board and
Dead before arrival. We protested
leadership. It can also mean the small “we”
vehemently, and with League members from
for your co-presidents assimilating the
three Leagues present, even willing to pass
impact of various state laws, participating in
the presentation one to another to get more
national training, helping to set priorities for
time. A few months later we had been invited
our advocacy, observing the state
to join a Federal law suit as an organizational
environment and struggles of local Leagues,
plaintiff against the demand for documentary
and preparing testimony and press releases
proof of citizenship when registering under
to offset one set of tricks against the vote or
Federal mandate at the Department of Motor
another. It could mean the biggest and most
Vehicles and when using the federal voter
powerful “we” of all, the one that included the
registration form.
actions of you members who informed
yourselves on critical political issues, made
your candidates and legislators think about

(Continued on page 6)
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We turned to the League’s best practices of
educating the public on the vote still in the
hopes that instruction could take people off
those suspense lists. A joyful and massive
effort between Washburn
University, KTWU, a writer
League volunteer and our
enthusiastic student intern
created a video and teaching
module. Our press releases and
the growing national presence of
our Secretary of State grabbed
the attention of the public. Our
elected officials and their
spokesperson mocked, criticized
and called the League names.
That brought out more of the
finest in journalists and -- stories
published from Topeka to Europe.

the suspense lists on our new website, and
eventually sending them to local papers
around the state. More reporters became
interested, did their own analysis comparing
for instance, how elections might have been
changed if local incomplete voter registrants

Receiving the top honor at the national convention in Washington, D.C. for pushing back against
Kansas Secretary of State’s voter list purge. Marge and Carole are shown with Wylecia Wiggs
Harris, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer of the League of Women Voters of the United States (center).

We purchased suspense lists first
to understand who these people
were who had the most trouble completing
their voter registrations. Our “free” data
analysis was limited to our ability to sort by
county, and a volunteer academic team. We
could not wait and did not have the funds to
compare lists with voters and census tracts
and race and resources. Analysis by the
Government Accounting Office among others
showed a 3% drop in voter participation in
the first election after implementation of the
photo ID requirement alone. In Topeka we
compared the turnout between 2008 and
2012 and had found as much as a 35% drop
in voting in a Hispanic neighborhood
between those two national elections.
We started issuing press releases, putting

had been able to vote. We built relationships
that added to the quality of public thought
and discussion on barriers to the vote in
Kansas.
Then court hearings and decisions related to
Brennan Center and American Civil Liberties
suits in which our Kansas League and
private citizens are plaintiffs dropped like
ripened fruit from the hands of judges in DC,
KC and Topeka. The judgments centered on
the federal issues but also state matters
relating to the right of the Secretary of State
to create a two-tiered system of voters:
meaning DMV and federal form registrants
might vote in only federal elections and
anyone registering on the state form can
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vote in all. State law does not allow it. (Aha!
Better be watchful!).We testified on invitation
of the Kansas Advisory Committee to the
Commission on Civil Rights. The report of
that testimony shouts to our legislators to get
rid of the Kansas barriers to the vote.
As we write, we stand in the midst of the
Kansas Legislature honoring those who
believe in representative government enough
to run for office, and win, and intent on
educating them in the meaning of the
barriers to vote in Kansas. A Legislative
Observers/Diplomats Corps of volunteers
watch and report to you what is happening
there. At home you are meeting with your
representatives and standing up with them to
the meaning of democracy for all.
The “jobs done” during our tenure include the
hundreds of volunteer hours by the chair and
committee and members devoted to
updating our School Finance position. They
include hours in verbal deposition and written
statements of fact for court cases. They
include League Day and “days at the capital”
— that set the legislators this year thinking
they were being overrun with us! They
include website development and Facebook
and Twitter entries bringing us thousands of
new friends. They include an increase in
members by 18 percent in two years. They
include renewed relationships with
journalists, environmental groups,
naturalizing citizens, voter registrants, and
students. We believe they include respect of
our legislators, and all those coming to us to
learn how to impact and improve democracy
for all.

But we did not finish. All Kansas citizens still
face the same barriers to the vote if they use
the Kansas voter registration form. Until the
so-called S.A.F.E. Act is repealed and ease
of voting through Election Day registration
and mail in ballots or even automatic voter
registration and paper ballots and audits at
every level of election become law, the
Kansas vote is closed to many, defied by
extreme politics.
In addition, we did not begin to touch the
menace of money in politics at every level of
government. We have not yet set up a plan
for funding our public schools. We failed to
pass Medicaid expansion. We approach a
new census and redistricting challenge.
We are, however, intent on becoming
experts on elections and the vote, including
hands-on registration assistance for the
young, the old, the poor and the new citizen.
And we know who we are as a unique and
vital organization: non-partisan, leader in the
protection of democracy and the vote for all.
There is none other the same.
It has been our honor to serve as your copresidents these past two years. Working
with extraordinary men and women who are
committed to making a difference in
democracy has been a true pleasure. Your
Board has taken on projects to bring our
League into the future and to set the
foundation for the next 100 years. Read the
following individual reports to understand the
quality of your board members and their
accomplishments on your behalf.
Thank you.
MARGE AHRENS AND CAROLE NEAL
CO-PRESIDENTS
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LWVK BOARD 2016-17
Marge Ahrens, Co-President (Topeka/Shawnee County)
Carole Neal, Co-President (Wichita Metro)
Cille King, Voters Services and 1st Vice President (Lawrence/Douglas County)
Melissa Carlson, Communications and 2nd Vice President (Johnson County)
Betty Wyckoff, Secretary (MAL, Cherryvale)
Anita Kaiser, Treasurer (Johnson County)
Directors & Specialty
Teresa Briggs, Legislative Liaison (Emporia)
Alan Cowles, Legislative Liaison (Lawrence/Douglas County)
Gwen Elliot, State Study Chair (Topeka/Shawnee County)
Jari Marietta, Development/Fundraising (Great Bend)
Ellen Miller, Membership (Johnson County)
Martha Pint, MLD (Wichita Metro)

BOARD REPORTS
Voters Service Report
Voter registration in Kansas has been a moving
target. With the implementation of the SAFE Act in
January 2013, when all new voters needed to
provide proof of citizenship in order to be registered
to vote, to the October 2015 regulation when those
applications without documents would be removed
from the “suspense list”, to the Federal Voter
Registration form when, without documents could
only vote in Federal elections, to our current status,
we have kept our local Leagues apprised of the
changes and pending lawsuits.
Kansas current voter registration status without
proof of citizenship:
 If a person files a Kansas Voter Registration
form, but does not provide proof of citizenship, they
are not eligible to vote, and will be removed from
the “suspense list” after 90 days. The Kansas form
is the one on the SOS website and at all County
Election Offices.
 If a person files a Federal Voter Registration
form or registers to vote at the DMV, but does not
provide proof of citizenship, they are registered to
vote a regular ballot in all elections.

We encourage all local Leagues to continue with
registering voters with the Federal Voter
Registration form. Registering voters is one of our
primary goals – working for a representative
government. In addition, it puts the LWV in front of
the public, increases membership, and reinforces
our reputation as a non-partisan organization.
LWVK received a grant from LWVUS in 2016 for
New Citizen Voter Registration. Between May to
October 2016, local Leagues registered 465 new
citizens following Naturalization Ceremonies. We
sent postcards to remind them to vote, where they
could find voter information, and their polling place.
We look forward to 2018 state-wide races and an
opportunity to hold candidate forums to better
inform Kansas voters.
Submitted by Cille King

Communications
LWVK communications is a combination of social
media platforms and old-fashioned schmoozing.
While I put our co-presidents’ thoughts into
digestible bites, Marge is under the statehouse
8
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dome working the lawmakers and media. Marge,
Carole, and Cille proof my work for content
accuracy.
This personal touch has led to dozens of articles in
the past year. We sent eight press releases in the
first half of the year, and then backed off because
reporters knew when to contact Marge and Carole.
I selected stories of 26 separate events from a
variety of sources to feature on our website. Each
of those represent one media outlet’s version, while
often all three major newspapers, two public radio
stations, sometimes a TV station, and small-city
papers also covered it. LWVK has made the New
York Times, Governing magazine, the PBS
NEWSHOUR, and NPR.
In the past year, we’ve produced eight regular
editions of our newsletter, VOTER Notes, and six
special editions called Action Alerts. Those go to
our members and a handful of reporters, and
contain links to more detail or resources, often
available at our website. The legislative page of
lwvk.org has grown the fastest this year, thanks to
our statehouse observers. We’ve featured several
bills and linked to 14 written testimonies delivered
to committees. This year, LWVK entered into an
agreement with the Kansas Rural Center to use
longtime political analyst Paul Johnson’s reports; 13
currently available.
Our Facebook net “Likes” spiked three times last
year: In June when we rallied support for Kansas
Supreme Court judges, in January around the
Women’s March, and in February after a bar
shooting in Olathe made international news. People
trying to make sense of current events are looking
to League for answers. Other organizations may be
more nimble, but League is trustworthy because we
tie our posts to position statements.
At the end of April 2016, we had 941 Facebook
followers. We’ve grown to 1,582 (as of April 21,
2017) with no paid advertising. We rely on a
chatbot to relay our Facebook posts to our 185
Twitter followers, inveterate #ksleg (Kansas
Legislature) watchers.
We use all of the above communications methods
(media releases, hand delivery, newsletters,
website, Facebook and Twitter) to distribute

“suspended” voter lists. A freshman lawmaker
indicated that was the one thing he knew about
League when he arrived in Topeka – and that’s a
pretty good thing for which to be known.
Submitted by Melissa Carlson

State Board Policy, Revised in 2017
The previous Board Policy, written in 2005, was out
of date. The State Board Policy is a guideline for
the Board to use to guide them in the decisions
they need to provide effective and efficient
management of the organization.
During the previous year, the Board reviewed and
wrote policy on a number of issues that the Board
was facing, including changes in the ways we
communicate with local leagues, members, and
people not in League. The Policy includes
guidelines on the non-partisan activity of the Board
members. The Board, as a whole, spends a lot of
time on relevant issues and we all needed to be in
agreement how to handle situations as they might
arise. Many issues arose during the time of the
lawsuits and the Board needed to have one policy
to address the public and press, the Legislature,
and other groups.
Other issues that were added to the Policy include
communications. The VOTER no longer is the
vehicle to inform local leagues of important issues.
Now we use the state League website, eBlasts,
Twitter, and Facebook. The Advocacy and
Lobbying sections were discussed with changes
added to make them relevant to today's legislature,
keeping in mind our non-partisan stance.
We are hoping the new Board, and subsequent
Boards can use them as guidelines in their work.
The policies should be reviewed on a regular basis.
The Policy was accepted by the current Board in
the March 25, 2017 Board meeting. The committee
of two people from the Board and two off-Board
members with lots of League experience had a
series of meetings. They were: Carole Neal, CoPresident, Sarah Wyrick, Sharon Ailslieger, and
Betty Wyckoff, Chairperson.
Submitted by Betty Wyckoff
9
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Development/Fundraising
The good news is that the LWVK has collected
above the budgeted amount for the last two years
thanks to contributions, mostly from members. The
bad news is that we have not even come close to
raising what would be necessary to support hiring
someone to staff the state office.
Ours is a volunteer organization, and while
members have a history of giving of their time, they
are less likely to contribute money. Those who do
contribute often designate that their contributions
are for the Education Fund. This limits how the
money can be spent.
Last year we received money willed to us from an
anonymous donor’s estate. This was a generous
gift which was much appreciated, but the League is
limited in how it can be spent as it went into the
Education Fund.
In the future, all members should consider
contributing to the LWVK. This can be
accomplished through yearly donations, through
volunteering their time, and through remembering
the League when they are doing estate
planning. The League has more flexibility if the
funds are not designated for the Education Fund.
I would like to thank all of you who have
contributed. Your gifts have been very much
appreciated!
Submitted by Jari Marietta

Membership Leadership Development
(MLD)
I was honored to serve the 2016 – 17 term as
Membership Leadership Development (MLD) State
Coordinator. For me, developing leadership is much
like “raising a crop”…….find the seed that exists in
a League member and ensure the seed receives
the necessary nurturing to grow the League
member into a League leader. That nurturing
includes, among other things, providing information,
support, and mentoring. If the League is to
continue its much-needed and important work into
the next 100 years, the continued development of
leadership is imperative.

Coordinating with LWV-US Shur Fellows, Katie
Thalken and Lineah Davey, and our LWV-US
Liaison, Kim Lauth, LWV-KS built successful
coaching relationships with 3 Leagues in the state:
Georgia Sandlin coaching the Emporia League,
Ann Sanders coaching the Topeka League, and I
coached the Manhattan League. The Wichita and
Lawrence Leagues expressed interest in
participating in the MLD coaching process but we
were not able to successfully match them with a
Coach. Continuing the LWV-US campaign for
Making Democracy Work, we focused on numerous
ways to continue to recruit membership and
volunteers to the League of Women Voters
including:
 Immediately engaging those who express
interest in LWV,
 Sending out regular communications with
updates, announcements of upcoming activities,
and volunteer opportunities,
 Making sure that we are positive and
welcoming, and
 Appropriate use of social media to recruit new
members and encourage ongoing members.
Submitted by Martha Pint

Membership
During calendar 2016, LWVK membership
increased from 790 to 869. In February and March,
2017, it increased to 931. (See chart, p. 11) Many
thanks to the nine local League roster managers
who keep the LWVUS database current – your
work is invaluable!
However, this growth masks a local League’s true
attractiveness in its community. For example, a
League might have the same official LWVUS
number for two years in a row – it looks like that
League is static, not doing anything. But in fact, that
League has gained new members, offsetting those
who moved away, died, etc.
To measure that attractiveness, an Excel
spreadsheet Retention Template went to the roster
managers in March 2017. It shows both new and
dropped members. It’s being tried out for 2017.
Submitted by Ellen Miller
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Membership Chart
Unit #

Name

and LWVK priorities.
Official
LWVUS

Official LWVUS

Official
LWVUS

Active

Active

1/31/15

1/31/16

1/31/17

2/21/17

3/21/17

Numerical
change from
prev month

% change from
prev month

#001

Lawrence

127

125

163

166

167

1

0.60%

#002

Manhattan

96

95

102

102

102

0

0.00%

#004

Topeka

124

145

131

129

144

15

11.63%

#005

Wichita

82

108

101

105

105

0

0.00%

#009

JoCo

154

182

223

234

260

26

11.11%

#013

Salina

48

47

58

58

58

0

0.00%

#016

Emporia

50

49

53

53

54

1

1.89%

#018

Great Bend

21

20

20

20

20

0

0.00%

#028

Leavenworth

27

18

15

15

15

0

0.00%

#000

MALs

9

1

3

3

6

3

100.00%

738

790

869

885

931

46

5.20%

It is their responsibility to become knowledgeable of
To address overflowing files in the LWVK office, an LWVK's legislative priorities and to select a specific
area of interest from among them. They will attend
archives project was started during the summer,
committee meetings to observe actions and
2016. Currently we have deposits in both the KU
members, and to record votes. Afterward, they send
Spencer Library and in the Kansas State Historical
a report to Melissa for editing and posting on
Society. Guidelines going forward include:
website, and contact Marge or Carole with
 Consolidate all deposits – paper and
suggestions for League actions.
electronic documents (e-docs) – in the KU
Observers must stay on top of their specific
Spencer Library
legislative issue by following daily media, personally
 Create a pilot project between LWVK and
the Spencer Library addressing the deposit interviewing experts, and attending informative
programs. Observers need to be prepared to meet
and usage of LWVK e-docs
 Develop a master retention grid for LWVK’s with legislators.
The members of the Committee are Marge Ahrens,
paper and e-docs that would guide current
Teresa Briggs, Carolyn Dale, Galen Dale, Paul
and future boards
A draft Memo of Agreement between the library and Johnson, Carolyn Jones, Cille King and Carrie
Lancaster. The Committee has met weekly during
LWVK is under construction. It includes
responsibilities of each party. Once signed, existing the legislative session to report progress on the
LWVK paper files would be deposited and details on following priorities:
 Repeal of S.A.F.E. ACT: substitute election law
managing the e-docs process would be finalized.
Submitted by Ellen Miller and Anita Kaiser
including same day voter registration, mail in
ballots

Archives Retention

Legislative Committee Report
The role of a legislative observer is to research,
report, and support current legislative issues based
on the principles and positions of LWV of the U.S.



Taxation Reform: Return to 2012 income tax
rates and elimination of tax exemptions for
LLC’s, Subchapter S’ and Partnerships. Face
possible immediate tax such as gasoline sales
tax to cover emergency funding.
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Public School Funding: Provide adequate and
equitable funding with emphasis on income tax
as primary state support.



Sustainable Water Use and Planning



Medicaid expansion



Enhanced funding of services/entitlements
for TANF and Food Stamps



Gun control on college campuses



Strengthening the Kansas Open Meetings
Act and the Kansas Open Records Act



Adequate funding of public employee
retirement funds
Submitted by Alan Cowles and Marge Ahrens

The Kansas Open Meetings Act
In 2012 and 2013, I saw the Douglas County
Commission, the Lawrence City Commission and
the Lawrence-Douglas County Health Board cover
up a $750,000 lawsuit. I studied the 10 most
populous counties and the 10 most populous cities
of Kansas and found that 95 percent closed
meetings without giving the public any meaningful
information about the subjects they were going to
discuss in their closed sessions. Examination of the
Open Meetings Act revealed confusing wording that

enabled these governing bodies to justify closing
meetings without giving any meaningful information
about the subjects they were going to discuss -and thereby to conduct governmental business in
secrecy. See www.KansasOpenMeetings.org for
the details.
In 2016, Sen. marci francisco introduced a bill in the
Kansas Legislature to eliminate the confusing
wording in the Act. That bill remained with the
Senate Judiciary Committee until the end of the
2016 legislative session. In January 2017, Sen.
francisco (D) and Sen. Molly Baumgardner (R)
introduced the bill again. After two hearings and
additional small improvements, it was passed by
the Senate. Then it was combined by a SenateHouse Conference Committee, with updates to the
Kansas Open Records Act. It now awaits final
action.
The chances for final passage appear reasonably
good. Even if it is passed, we still will be challenged
to make sure our city and county boards and
commissions know that we expect. They must learn
to follow the requirements of the new Kansas Open
Meetings Act to fulfill the purpose of the Act that
"the conduct of governmental affairs and the
transaction of governmental business be open to
the public."
Submitted by Alan L. Cowles, M.D., Ph.D.

The Legislative Observer Corps, left to right: Carolyn Jones, Medicaid expansion; Carrie Lancaster, open carry; Marge Ahrens,
elections; Cille King, elections; Alan Cowles, open meetings and Corps coordinator; Galen Dale, taxation; Paul Johnson, policy
analyst; Teresa Briggs, death penalty and Corps coordinator.
12
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LOCAL LEAGUE PRESIDENTS
Emporia Sarah Wyrick
Great Bend Jari Marietta
Johnson County (Special Director) Candy Birch
Lawrence/ Douglas County Debra Duncan & Marlene Merrill
Leavenworth Carolyn Tillotson
Manhattan/Riley County Marisa Larson
Salina Lori Trow
Topeka/ Shawnee County Judy Moler
Wichita Sharon Ailslieger & Barbara Fuller

LOCAL LEAGUE REPORTS
LWV of Emporia

LWV of Great Bend

The Emporia League co-sponsored a candidate
forum and legislative dialogues with the Emporia
Chamber of Commerce. We also had our traditional
December brunch with Legislators, particularly
interesting this year with two newly elected
representatives in attendance with Senator
Longbine. Over the past year, we have had
wonderful and informative programs, such as
KanCare and possible Medicare expansion and
Beth Clarkson to talk about her statistical research
on possible tampering with voting machines in
Kansas

We’ve been active in 2016-2017. In 2016 we
held a candidates’ forum before the primary
election. Approximately 100 people attended
the forum, and it received both newspaper and
radio coverage. The Great Bend Tribune ran
articles about the forum on three consecutive
days, and the forum was broadcast live by one
of the local radio stations.

We once again collaborated with our county clerk
who trained us to manage mobile voting in the
primary and general elections at six senior housing
or long term care centers. Large print voter guides
were prepared by member Ann Havenhill and
distributed to the Senior Center and several other
sites including senior care and housing. We have
representation on the Governmental Matters
committee of the Chamber of Commerce so that we
are able to stay in touch with where they stand on
issues and can request their advocacy on matters
on which we have a position.
Submitted by Teresa Briggs

Before the general election, the League
registered voters for the first time in several
years because of a judge’s ruling that we could
use the federal election form to register voters
for all elections: national, state, and local.
Members of the board have had specific duties,
and all of them performed well despite personal
and family health problems.
The League attempted to keep the public
informed about the League through Letters to
the Editor and articles in the paper.
The nominating committee for the local LWV
presented a full slate of candidates at our
Annual Meeting which was held on March 18,
13
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2017. All of the proposed officers and board
members were elected, and the Great Bend
LWV is ready to start a new year.
Submitted by Jari Marietta

LWV of Johnson County
In 2016-17, we used a new leadership model. Our
officers (Special Director, Vice-President,
Treasurer, and Secretary) acted as a team. At a
summer retreat, the full board planned events,
reviewed job responsibilities, identified our
leadership styles, and agreed on a system to track
our Long-Range Plan progress. The leadership
team chose the year’s theme: Mobilizing and
Moving for Public Engagement.
LWVJoCo’s programs featured judges at all levels
of the state courts and experts on money in politics,
juvenile justice, the death penalty, the battle for the
ballot, and gun laws. Our Wine and Cheese
Preview Party drew 100+ attendees. Our Holiday
Party honored all candidates for office. LWVJoCo
held four candidate Meet and Greets. Some of our
Legislative Coffees exceeded room capacity — a
good problem.
We showed legislators their constituents are paying
attention by sending emails and postcards, making
phone calls, and posting on social media. In March,
35 of us spent a day at the capitol. LWVJoCo
advocated construction of a new courthouse and
coroner’s facility (based on 2015 study). The ballot
proposal passed overwhelming. The heart of
LWVJoCo’s political action initiatives included our
voter registration drives and naturalization
ceremonies. League registered nearly 600 voters
and approximately 650 new citizens (63 percent of
those at ceremonies). Speakers Bureau was
revitalized, with multiple programs each month at
clubs and assisted living residences. Observer
Corps expanded, reporting on 13 governmental
entities. Membership is 268; 105 new this year! Our
new-member mentoring program is popular.
Submitted by Candy Birch, Ann Sanders,
Anita Kaiser, Eileen Manza

LWV of Lawrence/Douglas County
Over the past year we held 47 voter registration
events, registering a total of 811 voters; an all
member meeting to strategize on voter registration;
a “meet the candidates” picnic and speed dating
event; an afternoon with our state officials; Day at
the Capital; a garage sale; a Holiday Party; a
training session for the Observer Corps; a New
Member Orientation. We held eight HOT TOPICS:
Legislative Wrap-Up with Paul Johnson; Education
and the Common Core; Informed Voters, Fair
Judges Project; Meet our new City Manager;
presentation of the proposed LWVLDC position on
Economic Development; Public Education
(Finance) in Kansas; and Concealed Carry, the
Faculty Perspective.
We participated in the KU Volunteer Fair; the
Women’s March; Lawrence St. Patrick’s Day
parade; and the City of Lawrence transportation
study. We ran the East Lawrence Neighborhood
Association election. Members spent over 25 hours
personally visiting 90 of the 143 suspense-listed
voters.
We cosponsored candidate forums for the Kansas
House of Representatives, Kansas Senate, Board
of Education, and County Commission; a town hall
meeting on the school bond issue. We cosponsored
a film and discussion on “Gun Control; making a
killing on guns, greed and the NRA”; three climate
change events, including the movies “Before the
Flood” and “Climate Change and Environmental
Security in Trump’s White House.”
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Alan Cowles received our Helen Naramore Fluker
Award for Open and Accessible Government for his
work on open meetings. A Lawrence High student
received our $1,000 Stucky scholarship.
This year our membership has increased 15
percent (27 percent over the last two years);
participation is definitely on the rise. We just
adopted a position on Economic Development in
Lawrence and we are continuing our study on Local
Transportation, with an emphasis on the elderly and
disabled. “Hot button” issues in Lawrence include
concealed carry on campus, a location for a bus
hub, and a proposed white water sports center at
Clinton Lake.
Submitted by Debra Duncan & Marlene Merrill

LWV of Leavenworth
We are a relatively new chapter and still a small
one. However, we have established a reputation for
well-run and well-attended candidate forums. We
had two in 2016, one in Leavenworth and
one in Lansing. In addition to the forums, we are
very aggressive about registering new voters. We
offered registration at Leavenworth High School,
Lansing High school, and several nursing and
retirement homes, as well as Leavenworth Public
Library.
In more recent months, we held a meeting to allow
the public to hear from our new state legislators,
and another one to dialogue with the current
Leavenworth county commission, which has a new
member and chairman. The public was invited to
attend that one, also.
Submitted by Carolyn Tillotson

LWV of Manhattan/Riley County
The League in Manhattan/Riley County has spent
the last two years becoming bold, active, and
visible. We have always been a positive force in
the community and are highly regarded as the
source of campaign forums, voter registration, and
local action. However, the current climate
encouraged us to try new initiatives, to step out of

our usual patterns, and especially to reach out to
the youth in our community. The following are
some of our successes:
The Brighton Report: The LWVMRC contracted a
study by Kristin Brighton to discover reasons for the
low youth vote in our area and the perceptions of
League in the community.
MHKvotes: As a result, we gathered a group of
young local leaders to study the issue and act.
With League guidance and Board direction of Greg
Wurst, the group took off! They organized voter
drives, social events, and social media posts to
spur the vote.
Kansas State Connections: Though we have often
conducted drives with Kansas State Student
Government, this last election cycle took on a fever
pitch. We were asked to give voter registration
workshops at sororities, student organizations, ongoing classes, and several with student governing
associations. This included follow-up workshops
as the rules for registration were changing daily
with court decisions. We were worked with two
public relations classes who chose increasing the
visibility of the LWVMRC as the focus for their
semester projects. (With Dr. Angela Zhang and Dr.
Barbara DeSanto.)
Programs and Lunch with League: We continue
programs to bring our state and local legislators,
county commissioners, and school board members
together with our community through round table
discussions, candidate forums, and panels. We
have had speakers from the press, environmental
boards, Kansas State professors, and retired
legislators. We completed a new health care study
and education funding study as well.
Voter Registration: Under the direction of Voter
Chair, Maurine Pruitt, we held a multitude of voter
registration drives, often in concert with other
organizations. Our final tally was 719 voter
registration forms submitted.
This is just a sample of what we having been doing.
We still have so much more we want to accomplish!
Submitted by VP Catherine Hedge
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LWV of Salina
It’s been a busy year. We spent a lot of time
getting out into the community. We held eight voter
registration drives, partnering with several
community groups, high schools and colleges. We
held four Lunch and Learns on varying topics:
“green cemeteries” and home funerals; Kansas
rural health care issues from director of the
Lindsborg Community Hospital; news on cancer
and prevention from Tammy Walker Cancer Center;
and Salina Adult Education Center’s
Partners4Success program. We put on two
candidate forums, including our first for a primary
election. We had a Fall Issues Forum with the two
women justices from the Kansas Supreme Court.
We held our annual summer potluck and
participated in the Tri-Rivers Fair Parade. We
posted “Your Vote Matters” yard signs around the
community leading up to fall elections. We sent out
our finance drive letter in February. We maintain a
Facebook page, and we are beginning to update
our website with help from Terry Erisman. A new
event we have started is our Saturday afternoon
postcard-writing group. Every Saturday afternoon,
anyone who wishes can join us at 2:00 at Ad Astra
Books & Coffee and write postcards to our
legislators -- we provide postcards, stamps and
addresses. In 6 weeks, we have sent out 100
postcards. We also have a program on our local

Community Access TV station hosted by member
Mike Trow. For our annual meeting on April 1, we
learned about the big Salina downtown
development project called Salina 2020 (and were
happy to have LWVK co-presidents Marge & Carole
present).
Submitted by Lori Trow

LWV of Topeka-Shawnee County
In this biennium, we purchased three billboards:

“Tu vota cuenta. Registrate ya. Vota
en Noviembre.”
“Your Vote Matters! Register Now”
“What if Your Right to Vote Was
ENDANGERED? IT IS! Register Now.”
They were purchased and placed in coalition with
LULAC and the NAACP in neighborhoods with
historic low voter turnout.
Carole Jordan issued monthly press releases about
the upcoming Tuesday Topics speakers, about the
billboards, new voting machines, and local studies.
The enhanced PR resulted in multiple stories and
television coverage; and television and other
appearances for our president, including the WIBW

LWV of Salina
marcher with sash reading,
“Votes for All.”
Thanks to all the
local Leagues that
sent in photos.
You can see them in a
slide show by intern
Natasha Martinez.
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“Red Couch.”
Our community liaison Orion Jordan served on the
YWCA Advocacy Committee and, with Kansas
Health Foundation funding, registered 150 people
to vote in central Topeka. He set up a meeting to
encourage Sunday voting in a satellite Shawnee
County office.
Fundraising: Orion initiated and ran two “Art as an
Invitation to Activism” fundraisers for the League,
bringing together artists and League members with
guests in the new NOTO Art District in Topeka —
producing $900. Another fundraising event, “Books,
Bags and Baubles” netted more than $800 for our
League.
In addition, LWVTSC volunteers served as
Poll Workers: 15 League members served as poll
workers during the election.
Members of the Observer Corps: 10 League
members served as official observers for seven
local government meetings.
LWVTSC reviewed our bylaws; created new note
cards; are building a new website; co-sponsored
three candidate forums, two legislative coffees, and
a panel of local elected officials.
We are supplying children’s books, winter
outerwear, and feminine products to a low income
housing community in Topeka.
Submitted by Camille Nohe

LWV of Wichita-Metro
The Wichita Metro League has had a busy year—
as have all Kansas Leagues. Our main goal was to
continue to registers voters, in spite of the barriers
that have been erected by the Legislature and the
Secretary of State office. We registered voters in 1)
all the high schools of USD 259 (Wichita), Derby,
Garden Plain, Derby and Maize, 2) Haysville
District Teaches meeting 3) Wichita Public
Library—all five branches, 4) River Festival 5) Arts
Council=Bar Creep Event 5) Hispanic Community—
La Familia Center(4 times) (Notices were put on the
Spanish radio station) 6) Several events around the
city such as WSU Earth Day, MS Walk, etc.. In

addition to registration, we wanted informed
citizens. This goal was achieved through speaking
to groups such as neighborhood associations,
senior groups, educational groups and clubs.
Forums were another way to achieve this goal. The
special election for Rep. Pompeo’s seat enabled
the League to do a forum with two of the three
candidates. We also did a judicial forum prior to the
regular election and had a Candidate/Membership/
Fundraiser Event. Our Co-President represented
the League in interviews with TV channels on the
issue of voter fraud and barriers to voting and
spoke at the South Central Legislative Public
Forums that were held in Wichita. The fourth
Tuesday, noon, is Tuesday Topics at Wichita Public
Library. It is a public meeting, providing an
opportunity for citizens to become informed. The
Wichita League is also a sponsor, with the Wichita
Public Library, of a series of programs on race
relations entitled “Candid Conversations.” This is a
year-long program funded by grant from the Kansas
Humanities Council. Another goal has been
increased visibility in the community and KPTS
(Public Television Chanel) helped in that area.
They approached the League for financial support
of the “The American Experience—WWI” and we
would receive 30 second spots on the League. The
League wrote the script, provided pictures and did
the voice over for the spots. It ran for three nights
and gave the League good recognition.
In addition to voter registration and education, the
Wichita League has grown to 119 members, printed
a brochure entitled “Know Your Government,” took
part in the State Study on Education, selected a
“Citizen of the Year” and a Sandra Day O’Conner
Scholarship recipient from Kansas Newman
University. Our goals for next year include reestablishing an Observer Corps, having “Socials” in
the summer, providing new members orientation
and increasing attendance at monthly unit
meetings. With these goals in mind, we have
surveyed our members for their input on what
changes need to be made. It should be noted that
with our growth in membership, we have been able
to form committees such as Communications,
Scholarship, Membership and Voter Service.
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PROPOSED CONVENTION RULES 2017
1. Members of the Convention shall be the
Board of Directors, the League of Women
Voters of Kansas, the presidents of local
Leagues or their alternatives, the delegates
chosen by the members of the local Leagues,
State units or Members-at-Large, as provided
in Article VII, Sec.4 of the bylaws of the LWVK.
2. A quorum for transaction of business shall
be a majority of the number of authorized
delegates registered at the Convention,
provided that a majority of the local Leagues is
represented, as provided by the bylaws.
3. Only voting members and those authorized
by the Chair of the Convention may address
the assembly. During debate on a motion, no
person may speak more than once on that
question until all others who wish to speak
have done so. Debate shall be limited to three
minutes for each speaker. No one shall speak
more than twice.
4. Members of the Convention wishing to
speak shall go to a floor microphone and
address the Chair, and after being recognized,
shall identify themselves stating name and
League. Similarly, when participating in
discussion, each should give name and
League.
5. Three copies of each motion shall be written
and signed, and then sent immediately to the
Chair, the Secretary and the computer/
projector operator.
6. Visitors and observers may ask questions
for clarification following debate if time permits.
7. When a vote is in process, the doors to this
Convention shall be closed and no one shall
enter or leave.
8. Motions to establish new LWVK positions

must go through the program planning process.
9. Any member may move the consideration of
a program item previously submitted to the
State Board, but not recommended by the
Board only at the first session of the
Convention. The mover may make a
statement, not to exceed three minutes, in
explanation of the reason for asking
consideration. This motion is not debatable. If
it is adopted by a majority vote, the notrecommended item may be debated at a later
session. It requires two-thirds vote to make
such an item a part of the program at the time
of Program debate and vote.
10. In the event there is more than one
nominee for each office, the election shall be in
the charge of the Elections Committee
appointed by the President and the election
shall be by ballot. The vote shall be at the time
announced by the President. In the event there
is but one nominee for each office, the election
shall be by voice vote (viva voce) and shall be
held during the last business session of the
Convention.
11. The Parliamentarian will be available to the
delegates to interpret procedure while the
Convention is recessed; etiquette requires that
the Parliamentarian give advice only when it is
sought. Availability of the Parliamentarian
between sessions will be announced.
12. No smoking will be permitted in the
Convention hall.
13. No politically partisan material will be
permitted at the Convention.
14. In case of serious disaster, fire, riot or
insurrection, the Chair will declare the
assembly adjourned to some other time and
place.
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You say……..
Speaker?

Second?

It?

It?

No
Yes

“I move that we recess for...”
“(I rise to a) question of privilege!”

Call an intermission

Complain about the environment

No
No
No
No
No
No

“I move (I call) the previous question.”
“I move debate on this motion be limited to....”
“I move to postpone the discussion until...”
“I move to refer the matter to committee.”
“I move to take from the table...”
“I move to amend the motion by (inserting, deleting, etc.)

End debate and amendments

Limit debate

Postpone discussion for a certain time

Allow further study

Take up a previously tabled matter

Alter the motion

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

“I move to suspend the rules so that...”
“I object to consideration of this motion.”
“(I call for a) division!”

Suspend rules temporarily

Avoid consideration of improper issue

Verify a voice vote

“I move that....”

Reconsider a previous action “I move to reconsider the vote on...”(having previously voted on the prevailing
side.)

Introduce new business

Yes
Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Request information

MAIN MOTIONS: Proposals for final action or to change a decision.

Yes

“I move for a division of the question.” (be prepared to
No divide the question in a particular way)

Separate a motion into 2 or more parts

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

“Point of information.”

Yes

“I appeal the decision of the chair.”

Vote on a ruling by the chair

Yes

Yes

“(I rise to a) point of order!”

Protest breach of rules or conduct

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

INCIDENTAL MOTIONS -- arise during debate or other business of the meeting. Must be settled before returning to the business pending.

No

“I move to table the motion.”

Suspend further consideration of an issue

SUBSIDIARY MOTIONS: dispose of or change main motions.

No

“I move that we adjourn.”

Adjourn the meeting

Vote

Majority

Majority

Chair rules

Majority

Chair rules

2/3

2/3

Majority

Chair rules

Majority

Majority

Majority

Majority

2/3

2/3

Majority

Chair rules

Majority

Majority

PRIVILEGED MOTIONS: require immediate action because they involve rights of the group. No other motions can be considered until they are resolved.

To do this…….

No
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No

No

Yes
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Yes

No

Yes
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Yes

No

No

No

No

No

It?
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BYLAWS
LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF KANSAS
515 S. Kansas Avenue
TOPEKA, KS. 66603
BYLAWS OF THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF KANSAS
As adopted by the April 1951 Convention
And as amended by the:
May 1954 Convention

April 1967 Convention

April 1985 Convention

May 1955 Convention

April 1968 Convention

April 1987 Convention

April 1956 Convention

April 1971 Convention

April 1989 Convention

April 1957 Convention

April 1973 Convention

April 1991 Convention

April 1960 Convention

April 1975 Convention

April 1997 Convention

April 1962 Convention

April 1977 Convention

April 2005 Convention

April 1964 Convention

April 1979 Convention

April 2007 Convention

April 1966 Convention

April 1981 Convention

April 2013 Convention

April 1967 Convention

April 1983 Convention

ARTICLE I - Name and Office
Sec. 1 . The name of this organization, incorporated under the laws of Kansas, shall be the League of Women Voters
of Kansas (LWVK). state League is an integral part of the League of Women Voters of the United States (LWVUS).
Sec. 2 Principal Office. The principal office of the LWVK shall be in the city of Topeka or at such other place, as the
Board of Directors shall determine.
ARTICLE II Purposes and Policy
Sec. 1 Purpose: The purposes of the LWVK are to promote political responsibility through informed and active
participation in government and to act on selected governmental issues.
Sec. 2. Political Policy. The League shall not support or oppose any political party or any candidate.
ARTICLE III Membership
Sec. 1. Eligibility. Any person who subscribes to the purposes and policy of the LWVUS shall be eligible for
membership.
Sec. 2. Types of Membership.
A. Voting

Members. Persons at least 16 years of age who join the League shall be voting members of local

Leagues, state Leagues and of the LWVUS; (1) those who live within an area of a local League may join that
League or any other local League; (2) those who reside outside the area of any local League may join a local
League or shall be state members-at-large; (3) those who have been members of the League for 50 years or
more shall be life members excused from the payment of dues.
B. Associate

Members. All others who join the League shall be associate members.
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ARTICLE IV Officers
Sec. 1 Enumeration and Election of Officers. The Officers of the LWVK shall be a President or co-Presidents, a
First Vice President, a Second Vice President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. They shall be elected by the delegates
at Convention or Council and shall hold office for two years or until their successors have been elected and qualified.
President(s), First Vice President and Secretary shall be elected at Convention, and the Second Vice President and
Treasurer shall be elected at Council.
Sec. 2 The President(s). President(s) shall preside at all meetings of the organization and of the Board of Directors
unless the President(s) designates another person to preside. President(s) may, in the absence or disability of the
Treasurer, sign or endorse checks, drafts and notes. President(s) shall be, ex officio, a member of all committees
except the Nominating Committee, and shall have such usual powers of supervision and management as may pertain
to the office of the President and perform such other duties as may be designated by the Board.
Sec. 3 The Vice Presidents. The two Vice Presidents, in the event of the absence, resignation, disability, or death of
the President(s), possess all the powers and perform all the duties of that office. the event that neither Vice President
is able to serve in this capacity, the Board of Directors shall elect one of its members to fill the vacancy. Vice
Presidents shall perform such other duties as the President(s) and Board may designate.
Sec. 4 Secretary. Secretary shall keep minutes of all Conventions and Councils of the League, and of all meetings of
the Board of Directors. Secretary shall notify all Officers and Directors of their election. Secretary shall sign with the
President(s) all contracts and other instruments when so authorized by the Board and shall perform such other
functions as may be incident to the office.
Sec. 5 Treasurer. Treasurer, or a duly appointed assistant, shall collect and receive all moneys due. The Treasurer
shall be the custodian of these moneys, shall deposit them in a bank designated by the Board of Directors, and shall
disburse the same only upon order of the Board of Directors. Treasurer shall present periodic statements to the
Board at its regular meetings and an annual report to the Convention or Council. books of the Treasurer shall be
audited or reviewed annually and a copy of the audited or reviewed Treasurer’s Report shall be sent to all local
Leagues in the State as soon as it is available.
ARTICLE V of Directors
Sec. 1 Number, Manner of Selection and Term of Office. Board of Directors shall consist of the Officers of the
LWVK, six elected Directors and not more than six appointed Directors. elected Directors shall be elected by the
delegates at Convention or Council and shall hold office for a term of two years until the next regular Convention or
Council, or until their successors have been elected and qualified. Directors shall be elected at each Convention and
two at each Council of the LWVK. elected members shall appoint such additional Directors, not exceeding six, as
they deem necessary to carry on the work of the League. terms of office of the appointed Directors shall expire at the
conclusion of the next State Council or State Convention, whichever comes first.
Sec. 2 Qualifications. No person shall be elected or appointed or shall continue to serve as an officer or director of
this organization unless this person is a voting member of the LWVUS, a) enrolled in a local League or b) enrolled as
a member-at-large of LWVK.
Sec. 3 Vacancies. vacancy, other than the Presidency, occurring in the Board of Directors by reason of resignation,
death, or disqualification of an officer or elected member may be filled, until the next Convention, by majority vote of
the remaining members of the Board of Directors.
Sec. 4 Powers and Duties. The Board of Directors shall have full charge of the property and business of the
organization with full power and authority to manage and conduct the same, subject to the instructions of the
Convention or Council. Board shall plan and direct the work necessary to carry out the Program on state
governmental matters as adopted by the Convention. shall accept the responsibility delegated to it by the Board of
Directors of the LWVUS for the organization and development of local Leagues, for the carrying out of Program and
for promotion in the local Leagues of finance programs requisite to further the work of the League as a whole,
including transmission of funds toward support of adequate State and National budgets. Board shall create and
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designate such special committees as it may deem necessary.
Sec. 5 Meetings. There shall be at least four regular meetings of the Board of Directors annually. President(s) shall
notify each member of the Board of Directors of all regular meetings by mail or e-mail at least two weeks before any
such meeting, giving the time and place of the meeting. action taken at any regular Board meeting attended by a
majority of the members of the Board shall be invalidated because of the failure of any member or members to
receive any notice properly sent or because of any irregularity in any notice actually received. unexcused absences
shall constitute a resignation.
Sec. 6 Special Meetings. The President(s) may call special meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall call a
special meeting upon the written request of five members of the Board. of the Board shall be notified of the time and
place of special meetings by e-mail or letter sent at least six days prior to such meeting, provided however, that
during a Convention or Council the President(s) may, or upon the request of five members of the Board shall, call a
special meeting of the Board by handing the members of the Board a written notice of the time and place of said
meeting.
Sec. 7 Quorum. A majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum.
ARTICLE VI and Withdrawal of Recognition of Local Leagues.
Sec. 1 Local Leagues. Leagues are those Leagues, which have been so recognized by the LWVUS.
The Board of Directors shall recommend to the Board of the LWVUS that it recognize as a local League any group of
members of the LWVUS in any community within the state provided the group meets requirements for local Leagues
adopted by the National Convention.
In the event or recurring failure of a local League to meet these requirements, the Board of Directors of the LWVK
may recommend to the National Board that it withdraw recognition from the Local League. funds and property held by
a local League from which recognition has been withdrawn shall be sent to the LWVK.
Sec. 2 Establishment of new Leagues. The Board of Directors of the LWVK has responsibility for the establishment
of new Leagues. this purpose, the Board may organize a group in a community in which no local League exists and
shall recommend the group for recognition as a local League to the LWVUS when it meets the requirements for local
Leagues adopted by the National Convention.
Members of such a group shall be members-at-large of the LWVK and may be organized into a state unit at the
discretion of the LWVK. funds held by a state unit shall be paid to the LWVK upon dissolution of that unit.
ARTICLE VII Financial Administration
Sec. 1 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the LWVK shall commence on the first day of April of each year.
Sec. 2 Financial Support Local Leagues. Each local League, except in the first year following recognition, shall
make a per-member payment directly to the LWVK, the amount of such payment to be determined by the Convention
or Council by a majority vote of those present and voting. two or more members reside at the same address in a
common household and are willing to share a single set of mailings, the local League shall make a payment equal to
one determined per-member payment for one member plus one-half of the determined per-member payment for each
additional member in that household.
Newly Recognized Leagues In the first year following recognition, a local League shall make a payment equal to 75%
of the payment ascertained according to the foregoing method.
Members-at-Large The amount of annual dues for state members-at-large shall be determined by the Board of
Directors.
Sec. 3 Budget. The Board shall submit to the Convention or Council for adoption, a budget for the ensuing year.
budget shall provide for the support of the state League. copy of the budget shall be sent to each local and
provisional League president at least one month in advance of the Convention or Council.
Sec. 4 Budget Committee. The proposed budget shall be prepared by a committee which shall be appointed for the
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purpose at least four months in advance of the Convention or Council. Treasurer shall be, ex officio, a member of the
Budget Committee but shall not be eligible to serve as chair.
Sec. 5 Distribution of Funds. In the event of a dissolution for any cause of the LWVK, all moneys and securities
which may be owned or under the absolute control of the LWVK shall be paid to the LWVUS after the Board of
Directors has paid or made provision for the payment of all the liabilities of the LWVK. All other property of
whatsoever nature, whether real, personal, or mixed which may, at the time, be owned by or under the control of the
LWVK shall be disposed of by any officer or employee of the organization having possession of same to such person,
organization, or corporation, for such public, charitable, or educational uses and purposes as may be designated by
the then Board of Directors of the LWVK.
ARTICLE VIII Convention
Sec. 1 Place, Date, Call and Notification. A Convention of the LWVK shall be held in each odd-numbered year.
time and place of the Convention shall be determined by the Board of Directors. President(s) shall send a first call for
the Convention to the presidents of local Leagues not less than three months prior to the opening date of the
Convention fixed in said call. final call for the Convention shall be sent by the President to the Presidents of local
Leagues at least thirty days before Convention.
Sec. 2 Composition. The Convention shall consist of the delegates chosen by the members of the local Leagues,
state units, of the members-at-large, as provided in Sec. 4 of this Article, the presidents of Local Leagues or their
alternates in the event the president is unable to attend, and the members of the Board of Directors of the LWVK
.Sec. 3 Qualifications of Delegates and Voting. delegate shall be a voting member in the State of Kansas.
delegate shall be entitled to one vote only at the Convention even though the delegate may be attending in two or
more capacities. or proxy voting shall not be permitted. Convention shall be the sole judge of whether a delegate is
qualified to vote.
Sec. 4 Representation. The members of the LWVUS who are organized in local Leagues and members-at-large in
the State of Kansas shall be entitled to voting representation in the Convention as follows:
The members of each local League shall be entitled to one delegate who shall be chosen by the members through
the local League; the members in each local League having more than fifteen voting members shall be entitled to one
additional delegate for each additional fifteen voting members or major fraction (8 or more) thereof.
The members-at-large who are organized into state units shall be entitled to one delegate for each such unit who
shall be chosen by the members of that unit. remaining members-at-large shall be entitled to one delegate who shall
be chosen from and by the members-at-large in attendance at the Convention; the members-at-large numbering
more than fifteen shall be entitled to one additional delegate for each additional fifteen members or major fraction (8
or more) thereof. records in the State Office of paid voting members and members-at-large on January 31 of the year
in which the Convention is held shall determine the official membership count for this purpose.
Sec. 5 Powers. The Convention shall consider and authorize for action a Program, elect Officers and Directors, shall
adopt a budget for the ensuing year, and shall transact such other business as may be properly presented.
Sec. 6 Quorum. A quorum shall consist of a majority of the delegates registered at the Convention provided that not
less than a majority of the local Leagues is represented.
ARTICLE IX Council
Sec. 1 Place, Date, Call, and Notification. Council of the LWVK shall be held in the interim year between
Conventions. Council shall meet approximately twelve months after the biennial Convention. time and place of the
Council shall be determined by the Board of Directors. President(s) shall send a first call for the Council to the
presidents of local Leagues not less than three months prior to the opening date of the Council. Board of Directors
may advance or postpone the opening date of the Council not more than two weeks from the date fixed in the first
call. A final call for Council shall be sent by the President to the presidents of local Leagues at least thirty days before
the opening date of a Council meeting. meetings may be called in the event of extreme emergency.
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Sec. 2 Composition. The Council shall be composed of three delegates from each local League, one of whom
preferably shall be the president; one delegate from each state unit; one delegate from the members-at-large in
attendance at Council; and the members of the Board of Directors of the LWVK.
Sec. 3 Powers. The Council shall consider and adopt a budget for the ensuing year, elect Officers and Directors as
specified in Articles IV and V, give guidance to the Board of Directors on Program, and transact such other business
as is brought before it by the Board.
The Council is authorized to change the Program as adopted by the preceding Convention only in the event of
emergency, provided that notice of the proposed modification of the Program shall have been sent to the presidents
of the local Leagues two months in advance of the Council and provided also, that a two-thirds vote of the members
of the Council present and voting shall be required to adopt any modification.
Sec. 4 Quorum. quorum for the transaction of business at a Council meeting shall consist of not less than a majority
of the number of registered members of the Council other than the Board of Directors provided that not less than a
majority of the local Leagues is represented.
ARTICLE X Nominations and Elections.
Sec. 1 Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall consist of five members, two of whom shall be
members of the Board of Directors. chair and two members, who shall not be members of the Board of Directors,
shall be elected by the Convention. for these positions shall be made by the current Nominating Committee. Further
nominations may be made from the floor of the Convention. other members of the Committee shall be appointed by
the Board of Directors immediately after the Convention. occurring in the Nominating Committee by reason of death,
resignation or disqualification shall be filled by the Board of Directors. President(s) of the LWVK shall send the name
and address of the chair of the Nominating Committee to the president of each recognized local League.
Sec. 2 Suggestions by Local Leagues. shall be the duty of the chair of the Nominating Committee to request
through the president of each local League suggestions for nominations for the offices to be filled. for nominations
shall be sent at least three months before the Convention or Council. member may send suggestions to the chair of
the Nominating Committee.
Sec. 3 Report of Nominating Committee and Nomination from the Floor. One month prior to Council or
Convention, the report of the Nominating Committee of its nominations for Officers and Directors shall be sent to local
Leagues. the year of Convention, the Committee’s slate will also include nominations for the Chair and two elected
members of the Nominating Committee. report of the Nominating Committee shall be presented to the Convention or
Council during the first or second Business Session of the Convention or Council. following the presentation of this
report, nominations may be made from the floor by any member of the Convention or Council, provided that the
consent of the nominee shall have been secured.
Sec. 4 Election. The election shall be in the charge of an Election Committee appointed by the President(s) on the
first day of the Convention or Council. election shall be by ballot, except where there is but one nominee for each
office, in which case the election may be by voice. majority of those present and qualified to vote and voting shall
constitute an election.
ARTICLE XI
Sec. 1 Authorization. The governmental principles adopted by the National Convention, and supported by the
League as a whole, constitute the authorization for the adoption of Program.
Sec. 2 Program. The Program of the LWVK shall consist of:
1. Action to implement the Principles of the LWVUS.
2. Those state governmental issues chosen for the concerted study and action.
Sec. 3 Convention Action. odd numbered years the Convention shall act upon the Program, using the following
procedures:
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The Board of Directors shall consider the recommendations which have been sent in three months prior to
Convention by local Leagues’ Boards and shall formulate a Proposed Program. Proposed Program shall be
submitted by the Board to the local League Boards at least one month prior to the Convention. A majority vote of
those present and voting shall be required for adoption of subjects in the Proposed Program as presented to the
Convention by the Board of Directors. Further changes in the Proposed Program submitted for consideration to, but
not recommended by, the Board of Directors may be made by the Convention, provided that:
A. The Convention
B.

shall order consideration by a majority vote.

The vote on the proposed change shall not be taken at the same Business Session as the order for

consideration.
C. The Convention

adopts the change by a two-thirds vote.

Sec. 4 Council Action. The Council may modify or change the Program as provided in Article IX.
Sec. 5 Member Action. may act in the name of the LWVK only when authorized to do so by the Board of Directors.
Sec. 6 Local Program Action. Local Leagues may take action on state governmental matters when authorized by
the Board of Directors of the LWVK. Leagues may act only in conformity with, or not contrary to, the position taken by
the LWVK and/or the LWVUS.
ARTICLE XII National Convention and Council
Sec. 1 National Convention. The Board of Directors, at a meeting before the date on which the names of the
delegates must be sent to the National Office, shall elect delegates to the Convention in the number allotted to the
LWVK under the provisions of the Bylaws of the LWVUS. (two) of the delegates shall be the State President(s), or the
President’s proxy.
Sec. 2 National Council. The Board of Directors, at a meeting before the date on which names of delegates must be
sent to the National Office, shall elect delegates to the National Council in the number allotted to the LWVK under the
provisions of the Bylaws of the LWVUS. of the delegates shall be the State President, or the Presidents proxy.
ARTICLE XIII Parliamentary Authority.
Sec. 1 Parliamentary Authority. The rules contained in Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the
organization in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws.
ARTICLE XIV
Sec. 1 Amendments. These Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote at any Convention, using the following
procedures:
A. Proposals

for change shall be submitted by any local League Board to the Board of Directors at least three

months prior to Convention.
B. All

such proposed amendments together with the recommendation of the Board shall be sent to the presidents

of local Leagues at least one month prior to the Convention.
C. The presidents

of local Leagues shall notify the members of their respective Leagues of the proposed

amendments. of a local League president to give such notice or failure of any member to receive such notice shall not
invalidate amendments to the Bylaws.
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AUDIT REPORT

gg

GREGG GEHRIG COMPANY LLC
913.381.2179
GREGGG@EVERESTKC.NET
5609 W 97TH TERRACE OVERLAND PARK KS 66207

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REVIEW
April 8, 2017
Ms. Kaiser, Treasurer
League of Women Voters of Kansas
P.O. Box 13491 Overland Park, KS 66282
Dear Ms. Kaiser,
We have compiled the accompanying statements of financial position - modified cash basis of League of
Women Voters of Kansas, as of March 31, 2017, and the related statement of activities- modified cash basis for
the year then ended. We have not audited or reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting.
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the modified cash basis of accounting for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.
Our responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in the form of financial statements
without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be
made to the financial statements.
Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures ordinarily included in financial prepared in
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial
statements, they might influence the user's conclusions about the organization's financial position, revenues,
and expenses. Accordingly, these financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about
such matters.

Gregg Gehrig, MPA

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CONSULTING
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Statement of Financial Position Fiscal Year 2017 (Ending March 31, 2017)
With Comparison to Fiscal Year 2016 (Ending March 31, 2016)
(Cash Basis)

ASSETS
Cash in Bank Accounts
Education Fund
League of Women Voters US Education Fund
Operating Account
Savings Account
Total Cash

3/31/2016
Balance

3/31/2017
Balance

$

$

1,630.92
11,527.87
6,373.04
6,766.06
$ 26,297.89

25,211.84
9,601.94
6,769.47
$ 41,583.25

Endowment Fund *
Total Investments

$ 67,242.75 Est'd > $ 64,647.59
$ 67,242.75
$ 64,647.59

TOTAL Cash and Investments

$ 93,540.64

$ 106,230.84

TOTAL ASSETS

$ 93,540.64

$ 106,230.84

$
$

$
$

LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS
Accounts Payable
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted - Endowment Fund *
TOTAL NET ASSETS

$ 26,297.89
67,242.75
$ 93,540.64

$ 41,583.25
Est'd >$ 64,647.59
$ 106,230.84

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS

$ 93,540.64

$ 106,230.84

* As of publication time complete fiscal year 2017 Endowment Fund activities were not
available for inclusion in this report.
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Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Fiscal Year 2017 (April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017)

REVENUES, GAINS AND PUBLIC SUPPORT
Contributions to Education Fund
Grant Revenue
Interest Earned Savings Account
League of Women Voters of Kansas Contributions
League of Women Voters of Kansas Registrations – Convention
League of Women Voters of Kansas Registrations – Council
Meetings – State League Day
Support Per Member Payments
TOTAL REVENUES, GAINS AND PUBLIIC SUPPORT

Grand Total
$ 23,303.05
2,175.00
3.41
6,530.01
110.00
1,560.00
1,530.00
12,101.00
$ 47,312.47

EXPENSES
Action – Advocacy
Action – Coalition Support
Action – Consultant
Action – Voter Services
Board
Finance – Fundraising
Finance – KS Report filing fee
League of Women Voters Meetings – Various
Member Related
Operating – Fees and Contracts
Operating – Insurance
Operating – Office Personnel
Operating – Rent
Operating – Supplies & Maintenance
Operating – Telephone & Internet
Operating – Website

$

249.26
210.00
7,100.00
5,723.23
89.48
915.82
40.00
7,032.96
282.00
155.37
500.00
5,856.83
3,600.00
474.03
1,458.29
935.00
TOTAL EXPENSES
$ 34,622.27
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
12,690.20
NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR
93,540.64
NET ASSETS END OF YEAR
$ 106,230.84

Interest Earned on this document is from the Savings Account only. As of publication time
complete fiscal year 2017 Endowment Fund activities were not available for inclusion in
this report.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year 2017 (April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Transfers from League of Women Voters US Education Fund
Transfer to Operating Account

$ 12,690.20
$

(9,619.08)
9,619 .08
-

Transfer from Education Fund (Close Account)
Transfer to Operating Account

(1,380.92)
1,380.92
-

Transfer from League of Women Voters of Kansas Endowment Fund (2,595.16)
Transfer to Operating Account
2,595.16
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

$ 12,690.20

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR

$ 93,540.64

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

$ 106,230.84

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE A- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization — League of Women Voters of Kansas (the Organization) is a nonprofit organization which
promotes political responsibility through informed and active participation in government and to act on
selected governmental issues.
Basis of Accounting — The Organization prepares its financial statements on a modified cash basis in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results of the Endowment Fund will differ from those
reported here because of the Organization's subsidiary League of Women Voters of Kansas Endowment
Fund receipt of third party year end balances of funds invested.

29

LWVK Convention April 29, 2017

PROPOSED 2017-18 BUDGET

30

LWVK Convention April 29, 2017

PROPOSED 2017-18 BUDGET

(cont’d)
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LWVK Budget Proposal Narrative 2017 - 2018
GENERAL FUND REVENUES


Local League Support (per-member-payment or PMP) at $18 for full memberships and $9 for half
household/student memberships. The membership count is based on the Official January 31, 2017
count of League members as reported to the LWVUS and LWVK. As of January 2017 there were 710
full members, 126 half household members, 3 MALs (members at large), 36 honorary members and 6
student members. Total membership is 881.



Contributions to the General Fund by members and non-members include any funds given to the
LWVK, not specifying the Education Fund or Endowment Fund. Last year’s donations amounted to $
5,545.01 which included grants from LWV US. The Board is actively encouraging support from members and friends to support our increased Advocacy. A new line has been added to reflect grants received. LWVK also receives substantial in-kind contributions from board members and non-board
members. We plan to continue fundraising efforts to non-League organizations and companies as well
as members and supporters.



Interest is revenue from interest-bearing money market account.



Local Leagues may pay 25% of their State PMP from their Education Fund. It goes into the State’s
Education Fund.



Meetings include amounts received for registrations and meals for meetings for State Meetings scheduled to be held in the upcoming year.



Education Fund Contributions - Prior year includes a gift in the amount of $21,980.31 from an anonymous supporter.



Education Fund current year includes PMP that some of the Local Leagues have chosen to take from
their Education Funds; this money flows to the State Education Fund.



Endowment Fund Interest and dividends are received from the LWVK Endowment Fund, which was
established in 1991, for general LWVK support. The amount budgeted is based on an estimate provided by the LWVK Endowment Fund's treasurer for amount not transferred in 2016-2017 and for 2017
-2018.

Transfers:


From Savings is a projected transfer from the LWVK savings account to offset operating expenses for
the year. Funds to support Voter Service projects will be transferred from the Education Fund.

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES
Action


Coalition Support includes expense in supporting groups that share League interests.



Advocacy includes payment for lobby registration and monitoring of legislation for LWVK.



Consultant is the payment to consultant Paul Johnson.



Voter Service Expense –will cover the cost of programs to facilitate registering, educating voters and
getting out the vote.

Board Expense


Board Meeting actual expenses paid for meetings; out of pocket expenses paid by board members to
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facilitate their functions.
Education


Study covers study committee and study material expenses.

Finance and development


Kansas Filing Fee



Administrative costs include costs for postage and printing stationery involved in fund raising.

LWVK Meetings


State convention is held in odd years and is offset by registration fees.



State council is held and budgeted for in even years and is offset by registration fees.



Day at the Capitol is budgeted for and held every spring – State League is supporting Local Leagues
attending the Capitol as individual Leagues.



League Day is budgeted for and held in the fall and is offset by registration fees.



National Convention is budgeted in even years.



Council is budgeted in odd years and is attended by Co-Presidents.

Member Related


Local League Support – To cover expense of services to local Leagues including Website development
and financial assistance.



Membership/MLD includes any expenses for membership training.



PMP for 3 MAL report as of January, 2017



Operation Costs pertain to the operation of the LWVK, its office and expenses incurred.



Fees and Contracts include annual post office box rental and PayPal fees.



Insurance is for liability insurance for LWVK.



Office Personnel – The office is being staffed 20hrs a week by an intern from Washburn University.
This expense is offset by 50% of the wages by the university’s co-op program.



Supplies/Equip/Upkeep include office expenses which cannot be charged to other budget activities.
Telephone/U-Verse is self-explanatory.

Operation Costs pertain to the operation of the LWVK, its office and expenses incurred.


Fees and Contracts include annual post office box rental and PayPal fees.



Insurance is for liability insurance for LWVK.



Office Personnel – The office is being staffed 20hrs a week by an intern from Washburn University.
This expense is offset by 50% of the wages by the university’s co-op program.



Supplies/Equip/Upkeep include office expenses which cannot be charged to other budget activities.
Telephone/U-Verse is self-explanatory.



Website – Annual Expense of website, plus additional services requested.

Submitted by Anita Kaiser, LWVK Treasurer
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ENDOWMENT FUND REPORT
2016-2017 Trustees: Chair Royceann Mather; Secretary Linda Johnson; Treasurer Robert Epps
TEMPORARY RESTRICTED FUNDS
Contributions as of

April 1, 2016

$60,581.00

Contributions
Total contributions to date

$
Mar 31, 2017

500.00

$61,081.00

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS
Interest Account
Undistributed Interest/Dividends from Prior Year

$ 2,595.16

Payment to LWVK

(2,595.16)

Less expenses of fund
Bank Fees

$

Interest Dividends Earned
Cap Fed Checking acct.
Treasury Direct
Vanguard Life Strategy Moderate Growth Fund

**

Short Term Capital Gain
Long Term Capital Gain
Realized Capital Gain
Net Income

FUNDS as of March 31, 2017
Funds balance Cap. Fed. Checking account
Treasury #912810EL8 BOND 21 11/15/21
Vanguard Life Strategy Moderate Growth Fund
Total Shares
TOTAL FUNDS as of March 31, 2017

$
$ 400.00
$ 1,357.29
$
22.43
$
4.33
$
$ 1,767.10

8.00%
2,580.765 $25.20

Investments (Gain/Loss)
Beginning period value - April 1, 2016
Ending period value - March 31, 2017
Increase/Decrease
Reinvested Dividends
Unrealized Gain/Loss

(16.95)

$ 1,370.86
$ 5,000.00
$65,035.28
$71,406.14

$59,159.78
$65,035.28
$ 5,875.50

7.59%

$ 1,384.05
$ 4,491.45

*Dividends Reinvested Paid in June and December
**Checking account contains minimum funds, therefore no interest is accrued.
The minimum balance required in the Capitol Federal bank account has changed from $500 to
$1000.
Submitted by Endowment Fund (Prepared by Carole Neal)
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LWVK POLICY POSITIONS IN BRIEF
GOVERNMENT
County
Government

Promote the flexibility and efficiency of county government in Kansas.

Criminal Justice
Adult Corrections
Juvenile Corrections
Court System
Sentencing

Promote a humane correctional system for adults and juveniles, promote a
unified court system and the establishment of a division of the trial court of
general jurisdiction to deal with legal matters relating to family and promote
sentencing policies that are effective, consistent, and fair; oppose sentencing
policies with death penalty provisions.

Education
Governance

Support of an education governance structure that is efficient and accountable,
that provides opportunity for public input, in which there is increased cooperation
and coordination among its various components.

Legislative
Apportionment

Promote reapportionment of the Kansas Legislature on the basis of population at
regular intervals.

State Finance

Support a broad-based state tax system with diverse sources of revenue that is
effectively and economically administered. Support a school finance plan that
makes equivalent resources available to each pupil regardless of the wealth of
any particular district.

Election
Administration

Support a state-wide standard for training poll workers and supervising judges;
mandatory training requirements for all first time workers and all supervisory
judges; base compensation set by each county for poll workers; training on the
use of provisional ballots, with the Secretary of State educating voters statewide
on provisional ballots, criteria for discarding and providing information, by county,
of reasons for discarding provisional ballots.

NATURAL RESOURCES
Environmental Quality
Hazardous Waste
Solid Waste
Water Resources

Promote the wise management of resources in the public interest and an
environment beneficial to life, policies to reduce the hazardous waste stream and
to ensure safe management and disposal of wastes that cannot be detoxified.

Land Use

Promote a system of land management, which integrates our ecological needs
with our social and economic needs.

Government regulation of solid waste management and limits on use of nonrenewable resources, and support action to maintain the supply and quality of
water appropriate to various users through prudent planning and management of
water resources. Support consolidation of natural resources and environmental
agencies.
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LWVK POLICY POSITIONS

IN

BRIEF (Continued)

Prairie Park

Support the development and maintenance of the Tallgrass National Prairie
Preserve.

Fracking

Support development and implementation of a Natural Resources Plan for
Kansas that would integrate the various management practices and technologies
of federal, state and local government to preserve the natural resources of the
State.

SOCIAL POLICY
Equality of
Opportunity

Support action to combat discrimination and poverty, and to provide equal access
to education, employment, housing and policy-making government meetings.
Support action to bring laws into compliance with the ERA.

Health: Medical
Indigence

Support health care for all through joint cooperation of individuals, when feasible,
employers and federal, state and county government.

Health: Mental Health Endorse a mental health system which decreases dependency on costly
Care
emergency services, reduces poverty and homelessness among people with
mental illness, reduces rates of incarceration, supports healthy recovery, and
strengthens families.
Meeting Basic Human Encourage cooperation and continuity between agencies and programs that affect
Needs
children and families to assure the basic needs of low-income families.
SRS
Children at Risk

Endorse the development and implementation of policies and programs that
address the physical, psychosocial, and educational needs of children at risk,
especially those at or near the poverty level.

Living Wage

Encourage establishment of a living wage policy by government and for-profit
businesses that receive tax incentives and/or other public funds.

Privatization of Child
Welfare Services by
SRS

Endorse the goals of the Kansas Child Welfare Services – safety, permanency,
and functional development of all children for whom it is responsible. Promote
greater involvement of all major stakeholders; efforts to have health, education
and psychological records current and following a child, and well-trained and
supervised staff. Develop baseline data and interfacing MIS for comparison
purposes. Hold annual external and internal financial compliance audits of all
contractors.

36

LWVK Convention April 29, 2017

RECOMMENDED/NONRECOMMENDED PROGRAMS
Submitted Proposals - Wichita-Metro
#1 Election Integrity focusing on voter suppression,
gerrymandering and voting machine
accuracy. Another aspect might be primary vs.
caucus.
#2 Gun Responsibility focusing on registration,
insurance, liability and training.
#3 Funding of the arts in Kansas focusing on
economic effects, quality of life, and privatization
Submitted Proposal - Douglas County
A study to explore alternative methods of
Legislative Apportionment including use of an
independent redistricting commission, such as that
employed for redistricting in Iowa.
Submitted Proposal - Great Bend
Purpose
To modify portions of the League of Women Voters
of Kansas’ (LWVK) 2015 Water Resources
Management Policy Statement to
1. enable League members flexibility to engage in
advocacy on any State of Kansas recognized
“beneficial use” of water
2. clarify conservation provisions with existing and
long held Kansas water doctrine

LWVK Board Actions on Proposals:
It is the Board’s opinion that the League of
Women Voters of the United States has
strong positions covering Apportionment,
Redistricting, Gerrymandering, Voting
Machines, Elections, and Gun Control that
allows state and local Leagues to advocate
for these positions in a manner that
accomplishes their goals.
These include:
Election Process; Apportionment:
Support apportionment of congressional districts and
elected legislative bodies at all levels of government
based substantially on population.
The League of Women Voters believes that
congressional districts and government legislative bodies

should be apportioned substantially on population. The
League is convinced that this standard, established by
the Supreme Court, should be maintained and that the
U.S. Constitution should not be amended to allow for
consideration of factors other than population in
apportionment.

Redistricting
The League of Women Voters believes responsibility for
redistricting preferably should be vested in an
independent special commission, with membership that
reflects the diversity of the unit of government, including
citizens at large, representatives of public interest
groups, and members of minority groups.
Every redistricting process should include:
Specific timelines for the steps leading to a redistricting
plan
Full disclosure throughout the process and public
hearings on the plan proposed for adoption.
Redistricting at all levels of government must be
accomplished in an open, unbiased manner with
citizen participation and access at all levels and
steps of the process, and
Should be subject to open meeting laws.
A provision that any redistricting plan should be adopted
by the redistricting authority with more than a simple
majority vote.
Remedial provisions established in the event
that the redistricting authority fails to enact a
plan. Specific provisions should be made for
court review of redistricting measures and for
courts to require the redistricting authority to act
on a specific schedule.
Time limits should be set for initiating
court action for review.
The courts should promptly review and
rule on any challenge to a redistricting
plan and require adjustments if the
standards have not been met.
The standards on which a redistricting plan is based, and
on which any plan should be judged, must:
Be enforceable in court
Require:
Substantially equal population
Geographic contiguity
Effective representation of racial and linguistic
minorities
Provide for (to the extent possible)
Promotion of partisan fairness
Preservation and protection of “communities of
interest”
Respect for boundaries of municipalities and
counties
Compactness and competitiveness may also be
considered as criteria so long as they do not conflict with
the above criteria
Explicitly reject
Protection of incumbents, through such devices
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as considering an incumbent’s address
Preferential treatment for a political party,
through such devices as considering party
affiliation, voting history and candidate
residence.
Statement of Position on Redistricting, as Adopted by
Concurrence, June 2016. This position does not
supersede any existing state League redistricting
position.

Voting Rights
The League of Women Voters of the United States
believes that voting is a fundamental citizen right that
must be guaranteed.
At Convention 2006, delegates further clarified this
position with a resolution stating that the Citizens’ Right
to Vote be interpreted to affirm that the LWVUS supports
only voting systems that are designed so that:
They employ a voter-verifiable paper ballot or other
paper record, said paper being the official record of the
voter’s intent; and
The voter can verify, either by eye or with the aid of
suitable devices for those who have impaired vision, that
the paper ballot/record accurately reflects his or her
intent; and
Such verification takes place while the voter is still in the
process of voting; and
The paper ballot/record is used for audits and recounts;
and
The vote totals can be verified by an independent hand
count of the paper ballot/record; and
Routine audits of the paper ballot/record in randomly
selected precincts can be conducted in every election,
and the results published by the jurisdiction.
At Convention 2010, delegates added the principle of
transparency, so that the League would support voting
systems that are secure, accurate, re-countable,
accessible and transparent.

Election of a President
The League of Women Voters of the United States
believes that the direct-popular-vote method for electing
the President and Vice-President is essential to
representative government. The League of Women
Voters believes, therefore, that the Electoral College
should be abolished. We support the use of the National
Popular Vote Compact as one acceptable way to
achieve the goal of the direct popular vote for election of
the president until the abolition of the Electoral College is
accomplished. The League also supports uniform voting
qualifications and procedures for presidential elections.
The League supports changes in the presidential
election system – from the candidate selection process
to the general election. We support efforts to provide
voters with sufficient information about candidates and
their positions, public policy issues and the selection
process itself. The League supports action to ensure that
the media, political parties, candidates, and all levels of
government achieve these goals and provide that
information.

Statement of Position on Selection of the President, as
Announced by National Board, January 1970, Revised
March 1982, Updated June 2004 and Revised by the
2010 Convention:

Statement of Position on Gun Control,
as Adopted by 1990 Convention and amended by the
1994 and 1998 Conventions:
The League of Women Voters of the United States
believes that the proliferation of handguns and semiautomatic assault weapons in the United States is a
major health and safety threat to its citizens. The League
supports strong federal measures to limit the
accessibility and regulate the ownership of these
weapons by private citizens. The League supports
regulating firearms for consumer safety.
The League supports licensing procedures for gun
ownership by private citizens to include a waiting period
for background checks, personal identity verification, gun
safety education and annual license renewal. The
license fee should be adequate to bear the cost of
education and verification.
The League supports a ban on “Saturday night specials,”
enforcement of strict penalties for the improper
possession of and crimes committed with handguns and
assault weapons, and allocation of resources to better
regulate and monitor gun dealers.

LWVK recommends a one-year
review and modernization of the
League’s Water Resources
Management Policy Statement to
enable League members flexibility
to engage in advocacy on any
State of Kansas recognized
“beneficial use” of water and to
clarify conservation provisions
with existing and long held
Kansas water doctrine.
LWVK does not recommend these items for
proposed studies:
1. Method Kansas selects Presidential Candidates
- Primary vs. Caucus
2. Funding of the arts in Kansas focusing on
economic effects, quality of life, and
privatization
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WATER RESOURCE MANAGEMENT — CURRENT POSITION
NATURAL RESOURCES, Section C: Water Resources Management includes: Water Rights, Water
Supply, State Water Plan, Water Transfers, Water Quality Conservation of Water, Financing Water
Resources
C. WATER RESOURCES MANAGEMENT
BACKGROUND:
The LWVK undertook a study of the supply, use and quality of water in Kansas in 1977. It announced a
statement of position in December 1978, which was approved by convention delegates in 1979. The
League again studied water issues in 1984 under the title of Water Resources Management in Kansas.
This statement of position encompasses points of member agreement from both the 1977 and 1984
consensuses. Delegates to the 1993 State Convention voted to undertake a study of selected aspects of
water resources in order to update the position and to reach agreement by concurrence. Delegates to the
1995 State Convention adopted this modified position. Delegates to the 2007 LWVK Convention adopted
the Study of Water in the Production of Energy. 2009 Position approved by the LWVK Board on Oct. 25,
2008The study was undertaken in light of current demands, supplies and the potential for future conflicts in
meeting future energy needs.
STATEMENT OF POSITION:
The LWVK recognizes that water is a natural resource basic to the present and future well- being of
Kansas citizens and to the economy of the State. A continuous supply of water must be maintained within
Kansas through conservation and the use of the best available technology. Because of inequitable
distribution, variable quality, and competition for water, there must be orderly planning for water supplies,
various uses, water quality, and strict enforcement of water laws, regulations, and management
procedures.
PLANNING AND IMPLEMENTATION.
Short-term and long-term planning for Kansas water resources should consider all waters of the State.
Planning should address, but not be limited to, drinking water sources, water quality, agriculture, energy
production, wildlife and ecosystem management, flood control and recreation Coordinate Water Planning
with a comprehensive State Energy Plan, which would include the full cost of water used in the production
and transportation of energy. (As approved at Convention 2015.)
The LWVK recommends the following policies for water resources management:
a. Development of research, data collection and information systems.
b. Establishment of water management districts for aquifers and river basins or sub- basins.
c. Regular testing of public drinking water supplies and ambient waters based on significant risks to
public health, ecosystems and wildlife.
d. Purchase of additional water storage capacity in federal reservoirs by the State to meet foreseeable
needs.
e. Transfer of water within the state to meet municipal needs.
f. Protection of wetlands.
g. Establishment and enforcement of Interstate Compacts.
h. Inclusion of soil, economics and environmental considerations in environmental impact statements.
i. Training and/or certification of operators of publicly owned water treatment and wastewater
treatment facilities.
j. Maintenance of small lakes for municipal water supplies or for periods of drought. Development of
conservation plans and drought contingency plans by municipal, agricultural and industrial users.
k. Strict enforcement of water statutes and regulations.
l. Coordinate Water Planning with a comprehensive State Energy Plan which would include the full
cost of water used in the production and transportation of energy.
WATER RIGHTS
The Kansas Water Appropriations Act should provide the State with sufficient flexibility to recover a vested
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or appropriated right when it becomes necessary to redistribute water according to a priority of greater
need. The State should have and use the authority to review regularly both the purpose of and quantity of
water used by water rights holders and to recover rights as needed by purchase or condemnation. Water
rights holders should be permitted to hold their rights without using them when there is no pressing need
for a higher priority use.
The LWVK questions the policy of giving all "beneficial uses" equal weight and ranks the priorities
(preferences) of water use as 1) domestic and municipal, 2) livestock and general farm use, 3) minimum
stream flow, 4) irrigation, S) industry, oil or gas production and 7) recreation. Public health and safety
should preempt all other rights when water is in short supply.
WATER SUPPLY
Long-term and short-term planning for adequate water supplies and the careful implementation of water
programs and projects is essential. The State has some responsibility to develop and maintain water
supplies for present and future uses by means of: 1) the construction and maintenance of dams and
reservoirs in conjunction with the federal government, 2) the purchase of additional or excess water
storage capacity in federal reservoirs, 3) the purchase of water rights, and 4) the promotion of
sustainability of ground water resources.
The State and local governments should consider the use of small lakes, regionalization of water systems,
and the transfer of water within the state in order to meet the water needs of municipalities. The LWVK
supports the establishment of water management districts by aquifer, watershed, river basin or sub-basin
to enhance water planning and program implementation and to facilitate participation of local users and
suppliers. Water management districts should have broad citizen representation. Major water users should
develop drought contingency plans to sustain water supplies and ensure that all users have access to a
minimum supply of water.
STATE WATER PLAN
The LWVK supports a comprehensive State Water Plan with the goal of preserving and improving surface
and groundwater supply, use and quality. This plan should be part of a Kansas Natural Resources Plan.
The State water Plan should be implemented at the local level whenever possible. Funding for the State
Water plan projects should be derived from multiple sources including but not limited to monies from the
State General Fund and the Economic Development Initiative Fund.
WATER TRANSFERS
The LWVK supports the transfer of water within the state for municipal needs only and with the following
considerations:
a. Environmental impact study on place of water origin, route of transfer, and place of final use.
b. Use of water conservation practices for one or more years in the place of origin and place of final
use prior to the request for transfer.
c. Compliance with long-term water goals and policies of each aquifer or watershed involved in a
transfer.
d. Ability of beneficiaries of the water transfer to initiate and maintain funding of the project.
e. With interbasin transfers of water, negative environmental impacts should be minimized. Careful
attention should be given to the long-term and short-term impact on the water source of origin and the
receiving area. A request for the transfer of large quantities of water over extended periods of time
should be an occasion to examine the adequacy of water conservation plans for both the transferring
and receiving regions.
f. Public interest or citizen groups should be allowed to participate in water transfer hearings, such
participation should not be constrained by excessive costs placed on the individuals or groups
appearing as interveners.
WATER QUALITY
The quality of Kansas surface and groundwater and the protection of potable water will be preserved by
the following:
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a. Enforcement of enacted statues and regulations by the federal, state and local governments.
b. Standards for safe drinking water and ambient water quality based on the possibility of significant
risks to the public's health.
c. Standards of ambient water quality that protect animals, aquatic life, ecosystems and contact
recreation.
d. Water policies that address, but are not limited to: a) the establishment and implementation of soil
and water conservation practices; b) the cleanup or improvement of water with naturally occurring
pollution; and c) use of the best available technology to control non-point sources and point sources of
pollution.
e. Implementation of measures to control such non-point sources as urban runoff, agricultural runoff
and irrigation runoff.
f. Mandatory practices and penalties should be imposed on those who impair water quality.
g. Monitoring the quality of Kansas' waters regularly and maintaining them at levels that will support
the biota and wetlands of the state.
CONSERVATION OF WATER
The LWVK advocates the conservation of water as being important to the future management of the
state's water resources. Conservation is necessary at all times, but especially during periods of drought.
Education is only one measure to achieve conservation of water; it must be supplemented by other
measures. These could include actions by the State of Kansas such as:
a. Requiring conservation plans from existing major water users and new non-domestic applicants for
water rights.
b. Metering of water flow when irrigation is involved from either surface or groundwater using the most
efficient methods and equipment available.
c. Developing demonstration projects, conducting research on water-sparing crops, and providing the
technical assistance in these areas.
d. Recycling and reuse of water whenever economically feasible,
e. Industry, municipalities and the State sharing the cost of technical assistance for such practices.
f. A special assessment on consumptive users of water and on those who deplete water supplies.
g. Securing the safe yield policy of an aquifer by withholding further water rights whenever feasible.
h. Encourage energy development that utilizes water efficiency, water reuse, and Best Management
Practices. The League views the conservation of water as critical in the protection of the wetlands of
the state. The planned depletion of groundwater is not an acceptable policy for water conservation.
FINANCING WATER RESOURCES
Water users, beneficiaries and the State all have roles in financing water programs and projects. The users
should pay for the treatment of a municipality's drinking water and wastewater. Users should be
responsible for obtaining their own water sources. Beneficiaries should be responsible for funding a project
to transfer water from the source to the community. Users and the State should pay for: 1) construction of
local and regional storage dams or water projects, 2) improvement in the quality of water with naturally
occurring pollution such as mineral intrusion, and 3) technical assistance in reusing and recycling industrial
and municipal waters.
The State should pay for the storage of state-owned water in the nine federal reservoirs presently involved
in the state water marketing program. Sale of this water would fund this storage. The State should pay the
costs of research, data collection and information systems that undergird effective planning.
The League advocates a dedicated fund to finance the various projects and programs within the Annual
State Water Plan. Funding could be provided from:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

The State General Fund
The Economic Development Initiatives Fund
Fees from municipal, industrial and stock water users
An assessment on fertilizers and pesticides
Fines for water pollution
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f. A surcharge on additional water withdrawn or used during drought or high-use periods
g. An extra fee or higher rate for consumptive water users
h. An extra fee or higher rate for users who deplete water quantity or impair water quality.
The State should establish a revolving trust fund to lend money at low interest rates to aid communities or
districts in the construction of water treatment and wastewater treatment facilities. Payback to the State
should occur within the useful life of the facility.

WATER RESOURCE MANAGEMENT — PROPOSED PROGRAM UPDATE
Rationale for program update presented by Bev Komarek of LWV of Great Bend-Barton County; past
LMVK President (1989-1991); LWVK Board member (1985-1989); past president, LWVGB (1981-1985);
and emeritus representative, Upper Arkansas Basin Advisory Committee (2000-2010). January 25, 2017
Purpose
To modify portions of the League of Women Voters of Kansas’ (LWVK) 2015 Water Resources
Management Policy Statement to
1. enable league members flexibility to engage in advocacy on any State of Kansas recognized
“beneficial use” of water
2. clarify conservation provisions with existing and long held Kansas water doctrine
Introduction
For more than 40 years, the League of Women Voters of Kansas (LWVK) has demonstrated its
stewardship of Water Resources Management across the State through its Water Use Management Policy
Statement. In 1977, local League members conducted the groundbreaking water study. Updates followed
in 1984, 1993, and 2008. With member agreement, a new Water Resource Management Statement of
Position with planning and Implementation recommendations was formed again in 2009.
Background
Water Use in Kansas creates complex legal circumstances. Geography makes the state a microcosm of
national water trends and conditions. With more humidity in the Eastern portion of the state and semi-arid
conditions in the West, the State tried and legally failed to combine the “riparian” approach favored in
Eastern States with the “appropriation” approach prevalent in Western States. As a result, water
legislation and use doctrine has been carefully crafted and updated to respect the diversity of “beneficial
uses” across the State.
Prior to the present drought of three years that threatened the livelihood and economy for the western half
of the state, public water requiring entities made accommodations for the use of their water rights. For
example, the Cheyenne Bottoms-(State) formed an IGUCA (Intense Groundwater Use Control Area) to
modify its "first in time" low number to share with other users. Additional IGUCAs now have been formed
to modify the "first in time" doctrine. But during this latest drought, public water requiring entities like The
Quivira Wildlife Refuge (Federal) – saw that their long held “first in time” water use rights were not upheld!
And Kansas organizations and water users began urging the State to build “sustainable” approaches to
address escalating water depletion, promote better water usage infrastructure, and minimize irreparable
damage to water supplies and ecosystems.
Yet, the rapid expansion of farmland irrigation in western Kansas does not lend itself to any “quick fix” in
42

LWVK Convention April 29, 2017

the future. The Division of Water Resources for the State of Kansas most recent report on water usage
concluded:
On average, irrigation makes up 85 percent of the consumptive use of water in Kansas. This can vary
significantly depending on weather conditions. Municipal (public water supply) is next, accounting for
about 10 percent of total consumptive use of water in the state. The remaining five percent of consumptive
water use is for industrial, recreation, stockwatering, hydraulic dredging and other uses.
In “Irrigation Water Use in Kansas, 2013” compiled by the U.S. Geological Survey Data series for 2016
concluded:
This report documents 2013 irrigation water use in Kansas. The tables provided in this report were
prepared using self-reported data from irrigation reports filed for the year 2013 with the Kansas
Department of Agriculture, Division of Water Resources. The published regional and county-level statistics
from the previous 4 years (2009–12) are shown with the 2013 statistics and are used to calculate a 5-year
average. An overall Kansas average and regional averages also are calculated and presented. Total
reported irrigation water use in 2013 was 3.3 million acre-feet of water applied to 3.0 million irrigated acres.

Future of Water in Kansas
In October 2013 Governor Sam Brownback made a call for action to create a new 50-Year Vision for
Water in Kansas. It’s a simple goal within a complex system of legal circumstances and competing needs
designed to “ensure” a reliable water supply. The Division of Water Resources convened several public
hearings, workshops, and discussions for suggestions and public input to recommend changes. In 2015
and 2016 amendments were made to the Kansas Water Appropriations Act Water in an effort to address
the water crisis that Kansas is facing. Some Kansans understandably want to see faster action to create a
sustainable water supply. Likewise, those with conservation concerns see an erosion of water usage
rights for non-irrigation and municipal uses.

Proposed Changes -- LWVK Water Resources Management Policy:
With two specific issues in mind, the League of Women Voters - Great Bend proposes the following
changes be made:

Proposal #1
In the Water Rights Section, eliminate “the ranking of “beneficial uses”.
The LWVK questions the policy of giving all "beneficial uses" equal weight and ranks the priorities
(preferences) of water use as 1) domestic and municipal, 2) livestock and general farm use, 3) minimum
stream flow, 4) irrigation, S) industry, oil or gas production and 7) recreation. Public health and safety
should preempt all other rights when water is in short supply.
This statement, unlike the position of The Division of Water Resource (DWR) of The Kansas Department
of Agriculture, fails to mention other important priority uses covered by state law, especially wetlands. By
ranking water usage, LWVK cannot effectively comment and/or lobby in many instances related to these
internationally recognized publically held properties.
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Another example: Wildlife was not ranked at all in the 2015 position on Water Usage Rights; therefore,
local Leagues do not have the flexibility to comment or join with groups like the Audubon Society in their
water advocacy efforts.
“The Kansas Important Bird Area program was initiated in 2010. In 2011 our two first Globally Important
Bird Areas; the Flint Hills Region and the Cheyenne Bottoms Preserve and Wildlife Area were designated.
Currently there are a number of additional sites under review for a Global designation.
Both Cheyenne Bottoms Preserve and the Flint Hills Region host numerous species of conservation
concern … From the tallgrass prairies of the Flint Hills in the east, to the short grass prairie of the west
down to the mixed grass prairie of the Red Hills Region and the internationally important wetlands at
Cheyenne Bottoms and Quivira.
Kansas is where bird species from the west meet birds from the east and the state lies right in the center of
the Central Flyway.”

Proposal #2
Conservation of Water -- eliminate Section H. and reaffirm “first in right, first in use” legal
doctrine.
h)
Encourage energy development that utilizes water efficiency, water reuse, and Best
Management Practices. The League views the conservation of water as critical in the protection of the
wetlands of the state. The planned depletion of groundwater is not an acceptable policy for water
conservation.
Section H does not address the water use framework in use by the state. Under Kansas law, “water within
the state" is to be dedicated to the use of the people. Planned Depletion has been Kansas Water Policy
for 50 years. The Position should reaffirm the commitment to the water doctrine of “first in time is first in
right”. Why? The protection of wetlands in Kansas is guaranteed by Statute as well as under the water
doctrine of “first in time is first in right”.
This would allow the League at the state or local level to be viewed as non-partisan and proactive in
addressing water use issues. On October 13, 2014, Secretary of the Kansas Department of Agriculture
Jackie McClaskey’s “guest column” titled “Kansas Water Vision-Development of the Second Draft”
concluded:
“[T]he evaluation of the pros and cons of priority under the Kansas Water Appropriation Act will be
eliminated . . . We feel that any change in the Act as it pertains to the ‘first in time, first in right’ provisions
will achieve little and divert attention away from the dozens of strategies in the Draft that are widely
supported by Kansans.”

Conclusion
The LWVK Water Management Resource Policy statement should be updated to: be inclusive of all water
stakeholders; reaffirm the League’s guiding principle on non-partisanship and encourage flexibility. Each
“beneficial use” of water in Kansas has a stakeholder whose livelihood or quality of life depends on
continued use of this precious resource! Any reduction on their appropriation demands considerable
economic or lifestyle changes. By being proactive and collaborative, Kansans can devise approaches for
water resource management that give future generations the quality water that is appropriate to its uses
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and beneficial to the environment.
In his address to the Western Region of Rotary International – United States Western Region on May 2
2015, in Great Bend, 41st Governor of Kansas, Mike Hayden called for leaders to exhibit better
stewardship towards water sustainability. He pointed out that Kansas has the smallest percentage of
public lands of any of the United States, and this includes the Cheyenne Bottoms Wildlife Area. Hayden
concluded that with so much of the open space in the state privately held, it is vitally important to teach
young people to value the natural resources the state enjoys.
In closing, we must all become better stewards, no matter how much or what kind of consumption we are
provided. The long term health of Kansas depends on vigilance of this most precious resources.

Peck, John C 2012 Property Rights in Groundwater – Exhibit 7 presented at to the Water Policy Interim
Committee for Montana on June 21, 2012 pg. 493 http://leg.mt.gov/content/committees/interim/2011-2012/
Water-Policy/minutes/June-21-2012/Exhibit07.pdf retrieved January 17, 2017

Division of Water Use, Water Use Reporting https://agriculture.ks.gov/divisions-programs/dwr/waterappropriation/water-use-reporting retrieved January 19, 2017
Lanning-Rush, J.L., 2016, Irrigation water use in Kansas, 2013: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 981, 12
p., http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ds981. retrieved January 19, 2017
Audubon, Important Bird Areas – Kansas http://www.audubon.org/important-bird-areas/state/kansas
retrieved January 19, 2017
Peck, John C (2015) Recent Development in Water Law pg. 10 , Continuing Legal Education at KU Law
https://law.ku.edu/sites/law.ku.edu/files/docs/recent-developments/2015/peck-water-law.pdf retrieved
January 17, 2017
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PROPOSED ADOPTION OF LWVK POSITION ON SCHOOL FINANCE
BACKGROUND:
The school finance position was apparently approved as part of the Education Governance Position by the
Board of Directors in 1998, and was incorporated with the 1986 statement of position. A new two-year
update study was approved at State Convention, 2015. After intense study involving a SurveyMonkey
consensus question/answer response from nine Leagues and six individuals, the updated position
statement is being recommended for approval at State Convention, 2017.
STATEMENT OF POSITION:
The LWVK reaffirms its position (please see State Finance, Standards, in current positions) that adequate
funding of public (pre-K-12) education is very important for the students currently enrolled in Kansas
schools, as well as for the future of Kansas, its communities, and the state's businesses. In doing so, the
LWVK:
A. recognizes that the expenditures for public education in Kansas must be adequate and should not be
eliminated or decreased;
B. believes that students in poorer Kansas school districts should receive educations on par with students
in richer districts;
C. agrees that educational funding should be equitable for taxpayers across various school districts;
D. endorses the LWVUS position statement that "equity does not mean equal, given that some
populations are more expensive to educate than others, and some localities have specific needs;" and
that "the federal government should be primarily responsible for funding programs mandated by the
federal government on local education agencies;"
E. finds that the state, as required by the Kansas Constitution, should provide the total operating costs of
education in Kansas;
F. endorses, in recognition of the system of checks and balances, the role of the courts in ensuring
adequate funding for preK-12 public education in Kansas;
G. believes that local property taxes, when used for school building projects and other local projects, such
as technology, should be decided at the local level and equalized in districts with low property wealth;
H. favors, when necessary, hiring and paying salaries for more teachers to achieve class sizes that will
assist in educating every student to his/her potential, and confirms the high importance of providing
benefit packages that include health insurance and secure retirement payments, and the granting of
due process rights to preK-12 teachers and educators to ensure a competent work force in the public
schools;
I.

strongly endorses Article 6, Section 6 of the Kansas Constitution regarding both the legislature's duty
"to make suitable provision for the finance of the educational interests of the state" (Clause B) and "No
religious sect or sects shall control any part of the public education funds;" (Clause C); and

J. believes that public money should only fund public schools and that all schools funded with public
money, including charter schools accepting vouchers, must meet the same high quality curriculum and
instructional standards and accountability requirements. Charter schools, etc., should remain under the
jurisdiction of local school boards.

Submitted by Education Study Chair Gwen Elliott
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SCHOOL FINANCE POSITION (CURRENT)
The State of Kansas should promote equity in educational opportunity for all through a school
finance mechanism, which makes equivalent resources available to each pupil regardless of the
wealth of any particular school district.
The League supports the following as a means of implementing this Position:
a.
Equalized expenditures per pupil should consist of revenues from each school district,
based on district wealth, with the balance funded from state sources.
b.
The state should provide approximately two-thirds of the total operating costs of education
in Kansas.
c.

Revenue to provide this support should be derived from one or more of these sources:

d.

Severance tax,

e.
A state levied and collected property tax on state assessed properties (e.g. utilities,
pipelines, oil properties, railroads, etc.) with equalized distribution.
f.

Income taxes and

g.

Sales taxes (with sales of food exempt from the base)

h.

The revenue should be equalized in distribution.

i.
Statewide equalization of the assessment of property should be a necessary condition for
fair use of property tax.
j.
Equalized expenditures per pupil should incorporate a weighting system, which takes into
account the education level of the pupil, the enrollment of the school system, and adjustments for
special, compensatory and vocational education.
k.
Special provision should be made for the rapid correction of deficiencies of those school
districts whose per pupil expenditures do not provide an adequate basic education.
l.
The following factors should be regulated by state guidelines. They should not be used as
determinants in school funding:
1.

incentives for school district consolidation;

2.

Pupil-teacher ratios (maximum and minimum); and

3.

Teacher training and experience.
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EDUCATION GOVERNANCE
BACKGROUND:
In 1985 the LWVK undertook a study of the governance of public education in Kansas. The composition,
duties and responsibilities, authority and relationship of the State Board of Education, State Department of
Education, Kansas Legislature, local Boards of Education and the Kansas Board of Regents were
examined. The consensus statement was adopted in December 1986. A study of the State Board of
Education was adopted at the LWVK Convention held in 1997. Changes in governance of the state's
system of education were under discussion in the Legislature, and it was an appropriate time to add to the
previous position on education. The new position was approved by the Board of Directors in September
1998, and has been incorporated with the 1986 statement of position.
STATEMENT OF POSITION:
Regarding the governance of education in the State of Kansas, the LWVK supports:
a) An education governance structure that is accountable to the voters and provides opportunities for
public input. The various components should work together to assure that the entire governance structure
is efficient and that there is coordination on curriculum and administration. The League does not support a
governing umbrella over all publicly funded education in Kansas, but does strongly favor better
coordination of all publicly funded education. It is imperative that educational needs in Kansas be given
higher visibility, perhaps through the designation of a Secretary of Education.
b) Increased cooperation among boards and agencies. There should be enforcement of the open
meetings law, availability of public documents, and dissemination of information about activities of various
education boards and agencies by the media.
c) Continued direct election of local USD boards and boards of trustees of community colleges.
d) A State Board of Education composed of an odd number of members with a majority elected and the
balance appointed by the Governor. They should serve four-year terms, which are staggered. Non-partisan
elections are preferred.
e) Governance of kindergarten through 12th grade education and adult basic education by a State Board
of Education with self-executing powers.
f) Governance of all public post-secondary education including Washburn University, by a separate
board. Washburn University should become a state-regulated institution only if the change does not
diminish funding for the current Regents institutions. (NOTE: Senate Bill 345, Restructuring of Higher
Education, was enacted in the 2000 legislative session. It retained separate boards for community colleges
and Washburn University but placed them under the oversight of the Board of Regents)
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE REPORT
ARTICLE V

Board of Directors Sec. 1 Number, Manner of Selection and Term of Office. The Board of Directors shall consist of
the Officers of the LWVK, six elected Directors and not more than six appointed Directors. The elected Directors
shall be elected by the delegates at Convention or Council and shall hold office for a term of two years until the next
regular Convention or Council, or until their successors have been elected and qualified. Four Directors shall be
elected at each Convention and two at each Council of the LWVK. The elected members shall appoint such additional Directors, not exceeding six, as they deem necessary to carry on the work of the League. The terms of office
of the appointed Directors shall expire at the conclusion of the next State Council or State Convention, whichever
comes first.

Elected at 2016 Council
Melissa Carlson – 2nd Vice-President 2016 – 2018
Anita Kaiser – Treasurer
2016 – 2018
Teresa Briggs – Advocacy Chair
2016 – 2018 (Vacancy to be appointed)
Martha Pint - MLD
2016 – 2018 (Natasha Martinez, Topeka, At-Large Appointed)
Officers Terms Expiring
Marge Ahrens – Co-President
2015 – 2017
Carole Neal – Co-President
2015 – 2017
Betty Wyckoff – Secretary
2015 – 2017
Cille King – 1st Vice-President
2015 – 2017
Jari Marietta – Development
2015 – 2017
Appointed Directors Terms Expiring
Gwen Elliott – State Study Chair
Ellen Miller – Membership
Alan Cowles – Legislation Chair

2017 – 2019 Nominated Slate of Officers and Board Members

Teresa Briggs

Officers:

Teresa Briggs (Emporia) – Co-President
Cille King (Douglas Co.) – Co-President
Martha Pint (Wichita) - 1st Vice-President
Eleanor Browning (Emporia) – Secretary

2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019

Board Members:

Ellen Miller (Johnson Co.) – Membership
Jari Marietta (Great Bend) – Development
Jacqueline Lightcap (Topeka) - PR
Georgia Sandlin (Topeka) – At-Large

2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019
2017 – 2019

Cille King

2017-2018 Nominating Committee:

Debra Duncan (Douglas Co.), Chair
Gwen Elliott (Topeka)
Betty Wyckoff (MAL)
Submitted by Ann Zimmerman (Chair), Cathy Hoy, Jurina Watts, and Betty Wyckoff
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LWVK Convention April 29, 2017

STATE CONVENTION COMMITTEE
LWV of Topeka/Shawnee County (Host League)
Committee Chair: Judy Moler
Committee Members:
Carole Jordan, Orion Jordan, Vicki Buening
Parliamentarian: Grace Wilson
Convention Book: Melissa Carlson
Action Resolutions Committee
Budget Adjustment Committee
Committee to Review Minutes
Credentials Committee
Election Committee
Photographers: Natasha Martinez and you!
Send your great photos to lwv.kansas@gmail.com
LWVK Interns: Natasha Martinez and Haley Shirley

...to everyone who made this convention possible.
To our leaders, our committees, our interns, and each person who shared the day.
Let's continue celebrating our assets and

Making Democracy Work for All.
®

League of Women Voters of Kansas
515 S. Kansas Ave, Suite C Topeka, Kansas 66603
785-234-5152
contactus@lwvk.org
Facebook | Twitter | YouTube
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